




  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

1 
 

Mashpee Planning Board 

 Minutes of Meeting 

Wednesday, September 21, 2022 at 7:00PM 

Mashpee Town Hall - Waquoit Meeting Room 

16 Great Neck Road North 

Mashpee, Ma 02649 

 

Broadcast Live on Local Channel 18  

Call-in Conference Number: (508)-539-1400 x 8585 

Streamed Live on the Town of Mashpee website 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel -18 

 

Present: Chair Mary Waygan, John Fulone, Dennis Balzarini, Karen Faulkner, Mike 

Richardson, Robert (Rob) Hansen 

Also Present: Evan Lehrer – Town Planner, Christopher Kirrane – Attorney for Forestdale 

Road, LLC, Carl Gehring – Gehring and Associates  

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairwoman Waygan called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 7:00P.M. The 

Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – September 07, 2022  

There were no comments made regarding the September 07, 2022 meeting minutes.  

 

MOTION: 

Mr. Richardson made a motion to approve the meeting minutes for September 07, 2022 

as written. Seconded by Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING  

7:10P.M. (Continued from 09/07/2022)  

   Applicant:   Marcello Mallegni, Forestdale Road, LLC  

   Location:    532 Main Street (Map 26, Block 6) 

Request:  The applicant requests consideration for approval of a 9 lot    

definitive subdivision plan of land consisting of approximately 

18.05 acres located on Main Street (Route 130) between 

Nicoletta’s Way and Echo Road.  

 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel%20-18


  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

2 
 

Attorney Christopher Kirrane is present tonight on behalf of his client. He submit a letter this 

afternoon requesting a further continuance. Unfortunately, negotiations between the two parties 

broke down and they were not able to reach an agreement. They will put forth a revised and 

updated subdivision plan for the Board’s consideration for the October 19th Public Hearing as 

requested. They took the recommendation of the Board to make an effort in reaching an 

agreement, but the two parties needed to agree on a deal and they were not able to. Mr. Kirrane 

spoke with Mr. Lehrer and was told that meeting date should be sufficient for the hearing.   

 

Mr. Lehrer commented he is unaware of the full modifications to the plans, and he requested 

those modifications get to the Planning Department as soon as possible so they can be given to 

Mr. Pesce to allow for enough time for written comment for the Planning Board.  

 

Mr. Kirrane noted they will be adding the four acres of open space that will have to go to the 

Conservation Commission. There may have been initial comments from Mr. Pesce that will need 

to be incorporated as well as anything else, they will be ready for October 19th.  

 

Mr. Lehrer asked if it has been indicated by Mr. Mallegni’s engineers or surveyor relative to the 

scope, if modification is limited to only the open space contribution. If that is the case, Mr. Pesce 

already delivered a report, so if there is no modification to the proposed layout or technical 

matter, with regard to construction, they wouldn’t need an additional report from Mr. Pesce.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented she would like to still have Mr. Pesce look it over. She noted it has 

been a while and she would like to make sure his report is up to date. She would also like to ask 

the project proponent to review those initial meetings and read comments from the abutters and 

to address those previous comments.  

 

Mr. Kirrane referenced one comment from one of the owners on Ashumet, those concerns are 

going to be allayed given the 4 acres is going to be contributed. He will review with the applicant. 

They put all their efforts into making this deal happen, now they have to pivot and they will review 

everything and get back before the Board. 

 

Ms. Waygan anticipates the abutters will be present at the meeting. She just wants to be ready 

to address all their concerns.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented prior to the first continuance, he delivered a memo to the Board that he 

will be resending. Based on the location of the proposed roadway in consideration of 

intersections and adjacent roadways, a traffic study with the relative specified scope of work will 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

3 
 

be needed. He is asking the Board if it is pertinent to come with quotes to present to the applicant 

at the time the Public Hearing reopens or would they prefer to wait until the new plan is submitted.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked why they would need a quote if this is going in the direction the Town Planner 

is suggesting.   

 

Mr. Fulone and Mr. Balzarini both agreed quotes would be helpful. Mr. Fulone stated the need 

for a traffic study. 

 

Mr. Lehrer stated it would be his recommendation the applicant pay for the traffic study and we 

would provide him with quotes to complete the scope of work. It is what has been done in past 

practice. 

 

Ms. Waygan asked if the Mr. Pesce does traffic studies.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented Ed Pesce could connect them with firms, but generally he would 

recommend getting competitive quotes for consistent scope of work.  

 

The consensus was the Board is fine with this decision. Ms. Waygan wanted to reiterate that just 

because they are getting quotes does not mean they have made a decision on the matter.  

 

MOTION: 

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to set the Public Hearing to October 19, 2022 at 7:10p.m. 

Seconded by Mr. Richardson. All in favor.  

 

NEW BUSINESS  

Pre-application conference as requested by Carl Gehring of Gehring and Associates, 

LLC on behalf of Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless pursuant to Section 174-

45.3(I) of the Mashpee Zoning Bylaws for the purposes of informing the Board as to the 

preliminary nature of the proposed personal wireless service facility 524 Great Neck 

Road North.  

Ms. Waygan shared a comment she made previously to the Town Planner, when this formally 

comes before the Board it will be a Public Hearing. She has never been in a pre-application 

conference but the bylaw allows it. She asks the Board refrain from any opinions. When this 

project comes forward it’s a formal application and Public Hearing.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented the zoning bylaw encourages applicants seeking to submit an 

application for a personal wireless facility to informally meet with the Board to offer high level 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

4 
 

information, define the purpose and intent of the application, and the proposed location. He 

would suggest Mr. Gehring inform them of potential timelines like when they can expect the 

application will be submitted. This is a DRI mandatory referral, upon the opening of the Public 

Hearing, this would be an automatic referral to the Cape Cod Commission for review, and then 

it would go back to the Planning Board for review and deliberation. He would echo Ms. 

Waygan’s comments, tonight is just a listening opportunity and questions relative to process 

can be directed to Mr. Lehrer. He asks Mr. Gehring to once again describe the location, the 

process, and timeline moving forward.  

 

Mr. Gehring is present this evening on behalf of Verizon. He showed the location being across 

from the 99 Restaurant at the Verizon phone company building, in the back yard. It is in the C1 

zoning district and wireless overlay district. He noted this was a comprehensive application. He 

reached out earlier in the year but had a false start. He has been given the okay to go full 

speed ahead. He also reached out to the Cape Cod Commission as well as the town, and he 

will be looking for input and advice so Verizon applicants can do better in the future. His 

application will contain a narrative of the various elements of the bylaw. It will contain the RF 

plots proving the need. He will have a sound study, real estate impact, photos of the plan, and 

proof of RF compliance under federal law. There are wetlands in the back of the property that 

they are staying away from, he will also provide a wetlands report showing the plans are 

outside of those parameters. It most likely will not require a traffic study as it is an unoccupied 

remote utility building. Mr. Gehring would like a heads up of other requirements. He would like 

to coordinate an advertised balloon float so it only has to be done once, as there is a supply 

chain issue and helium is hard to come by. When he files, he will supply photo sims on a flat 

calm day. If you have wind it could completely mess up the read. He is curious how this can be 

done logistically. Advertising is tough because it is weather dependent. However, the Board 

has the ability to waive this. He wants to know if he should be in touch with the Commission, 

he would like to only perform one float if possible. It could happen 30 days from now, or 21 

days after filing, but the selected date needs to be good weather. It has to be advertised for 14 

days but no more than 21 days.  

 

Mr. Lehrer would like to review this particular bylaw so he can provide an accurate 

recommendation.  

 

Mr. Fulone asked if the outcome of the new balloon float would look different than the images 

already provided.  

 

Mr. Gehring stated they would end up looking the same.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

5 
 

Ms. Waygan stated if that’s how it is written in the bylaw, it could make him vulnerable to an 

appeal. The Board would waive that formally once it’s back to them in a Public Hearing. She 

just wants to put that out there that he is vulnerable to an appeal.   

 

Mr. Gehring will reach out to the Cape Cod Commission and discuss this dilemma with them to 

see how they feel. There are no residents nearby and it’s in the wireless overlay. There are a 

lot of woods and you would see it but once you drove by it would be out of sight. He asked if 

the Board wanted to see the plot size and the RFs. 

 

Mr. Balzarini asked why they chose that spot.  

 

Mr. Gehring commented there is a problem in this area that he will get into during the hearing. 

The RF engineers will give a search area to the real estate folks. There aren’t any large 

structures in that area. Verizon saw their building, and rather than negotiate a lease, they will 

be going through their parent company. Where else would be appropriate to see a wireless 

phone tower than behind the phone company building?  

 

Mr. Balzarini asked if the pole could be camouflaged.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated when he goes to the Commission he could talk about camouflaging. In the 

bylaw it talks about different methods. The Board is interested in that dialogue. She would like 

to know the benefit and the draw back to the pole being camouflaged.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented that abutters from the most recent tower process four years ago were 

interested in camouflaging. Painting it light blue to match the sky or like a pine tree, is seen as 

industry best practice.  

 

Mr. Hansen asked about a photo showing an array of transmitters, is there planning for 

expanding power use?  

 

Ms. Waygan would like Mr. Gehring to discuss that when he comes back to the Board. The 

application will be presented to the Board and it will be directed to the Cape Cod Commission, 

then it comes back to the Planning Board. Mr. Lehrer confirmed after the closing of their Public 

Hearing and a decision is rendered it will be back before the Planning Board.  

 

Mr. Gehring asked if the public would show up due to his filing even though the hearing is 

going to defer to the Commission. Ms. Waygan stated yes, and the application to the Board 

has to be complete and it will be a mandatory referral due to being a cell tower.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

6 
 

Mr. Lehrer elaborated upon receipt of the application, at the Planning Boards next agenda, he 

will ask to set a date and communicate back to Mr. Gehring. It will be advertised in the 

newspaper and abutters will get notification. Then the Public Hearing will open. He includes 

language in the notifications that no deliberations will take place and it will be referred to 

Commission. A Public Hearing will open at the Commission for regional review and folks can 

participate in those as well. Once it is referred back to the town, he will notify abutters again to 

come back to the Public Hearing here.  

 

Ms. Waygan informed him to remain in touch with Mr. Lehrer if he has any other questions. 

She asked if Planning Board members were encouraged or discouraged from going to the 

Cape Cod Commission meetings.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented it is their right to attend and listen to the regional review. He will attend 

so he can make a report to the Board.  

 

Mr. Hansen stated the problem he had with the last cell tower that came before them is he 

didn’t think they performed their due diligence to find adequate properties for coverage. In his 

opinion there were better properties that could’ve been pursued to address the coverage gap.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented there are three members that sat through that meeting and 

understand coverage gap. She recommends Mr. Gehring makes sure he can explain that very 

well to everyone in attendance, both the Board and public.   

 

Mr. Balzarini noted that is why he asked about that particular location. Did they do the 

coverage gap, as there is a lot of woods around there?  

 

Mr. Gehring asked about stormwater runoff plans, he noted there was not much impervious 

surface. Those things take time to engineer and he wants to get it taken care of now. The 

consensus was if the Commission decided stormwater and traffic study were necessary, the 

Board would follow their lead. Mr. Gehring thanked the Board for their time.  

 

Mr. Lehrer wanted to note one last item about application fees, as the Board has a consulting 

engineer who will review the plans at the time of the application. There are two fees, the 

application fee which is minimal, then the Board will require a $5,000.00 fee that covers the 

peer review and inspections by the consulting engineer. Those funds are held in an account 

with the treasurer’s office. Any fees left over are returned to the applicant at completion of the 

project, assuming it gets completed. Any fees drawn down to $2,500.00 or 50% less of the 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

7 
 

total value, will require replenishing to the full $5,000.00. The application fee will be made out 

to the Town of Mashpee.   

 

Vote to set public hearing date for modification of definitive subdivision plan of land 

known as Spring Hill West and vote to set public hearing date for associated cluster 

subdivision special permit approved by the Planning Board October 6, 1989 submitted 

by Pleasantwood Homes LLC.  

Mr. Lehrer stated they received an application to modify the definitive subdivision plan known 

as Spring Hill West. The proposal is to modify a few lot lines on the Tudor Terrace and to 

further modify the existing special permit cluster subdivision on record to incorporate a 

continuous adjacent parcel. It is just under 6 acres under the same control and ownership as 

the Spring Hill West subdivision. We will need to set two Public Hearing dates, one to modify 

definitive and the other to modify the Special Permit associated to the Spring Hill West 

subdivision. To get adequate frontage on Tudor Terrace, the proposal is to modify existing lot 

lines on Tudor Terrace and incorporate the continuous adjacent land area for three additional 

building lots. It is the modification on three existing building lots and the addition of three new 

building lots with the requisite contribution of open space pursuant to the cluster provisions at 

the time of the original approval in 1989. Mr. Lehrer recommends establishing those two Public 

Hearing dates for October 19th to provide adequate time for notice.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to set a Public Hearing for October 19, 2022 at 7:20p.m. for 

modification of the definitive subdivision plan. Ms. Faulkner seconds. All in favor.  

 

MOTION: 

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to set a Public Hearing date for October 19, 2022 at 

7:25p.m. for associated cluster subdivision special permit modification. Ms. Faulkner 

seconds. All in favor.  

 

OLD BUSINESS  

Local Comprehensive Plan Updates with Weston & Sampson  

Survey Beta Test  

Mr. Lehrer stated the reason they do not have the survey yet is because he identified a 

number of issues when he was reviewing the survey. There are a number of questions with 

scales, and the scales were not consistent with the questions being asked. It has been a bit of 

a process as their HR has sole control Survey Monkey. He really wanted to make sure there 

were no outlying issues that would impact how much time it took to take the survey. 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

8 
 

Ms. Faulkner asked him to explain this one more time.  

 

Mr. Lehrer referenced the question asking how significant of an impact do the factors of quality 

of life have on Mashpee, and the scale was satisfied, very satisfied, and not satisfied. The 

scale is not consistent with the question being asked.   

 

Workshops and Focus Groups  

Mr. Lehrer stated September 26th is the parents of school age children Zoom. Letters and 

invitations went home last week. He wants this one to be well attended.  

 

Monday, October 3rd will be an additional condensed Zoom.  

 

The Tribe has confirmed Sunday, September 25th for their session. Mr. Lehrer, Blake Martin, 

and Ashley Sweet will be in attendance. Ms. Waygan asked if that was a 2:00p.m. start time.  

 

Mr. Lehrer was informed that sometimes non tribal members cannot be present for certain 

topics of discussion. He will likely be there early to give a presentation. Select Board member 

Mr. Weeden will set up in the atrium and invite attendees as they come and go to engage in 

that space. There will not be enough space in the other room.  

 

Affordable and Workforce Housing  

Ms. Waygan attended the meeting of the Affordable Housing Committee last week. She 

emailed the Chair about coordinating between the Committee and this Board on some zoning 

to create affordable housing in town. He said yes, he has seen the June 5th email, and she is 

waiting to see how he wants to proceed. In lieu of meeting, she would like to invite them here, 

or maybe Mr. Lehrer can go to them with the redevelopment bylaw. They meet monthly, so Mr. 

Lehrer could explain the redevelopment bylaw, then they could convene together to discuss.  

 

Community Preservation Program   

Ms. Waygan commented there is a Public Hearing on Thursday, October 6, 2022. The CPC is 

holding a Public Hearing on the possibilities and resources as they relate to historic 

preservation, recreation, affordable housing, and open space. It will be held at the Senior 

Center at 6:00p.m. She will clarify the exact time. It is the annual Public Hearing for the 

Community Preservation Committee. They will go through the program and performance data 

and what has been accomplished thus far and what’s in progress, then they will take Public 

Comment on what people would like to see as priority use of the funds. The Planning Board 

wrote a letter of support for the purchase of 751 Main St., Rt. 130. That is the one application 

the CPC is considering right now. They will set a deadline in early November for applications. If 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

9 
 

people have ideas for projects in town and want to submit an application, they should come to 

that Public Hearing to learn more about the program.  

 

CHAIRMANS REPORT  

Floodplain overlay proposed Zoning Bylaw amendment 

Ms. Waygan made a presentation regarding two proposed amendments, she is going to turn it 

over to Ms. Faulkner to provide the update.  

 

Ms. Faulkner thanked Mr. Lehrer for all the hard work he put into this bylaw as well as the 

Board for unanimously sending it to the Select Board. The Select Board approved and 

recommended the skeleton of the bylaw excluding the prohibition of fill and exceptions. One of 

their reasons for not passing the prohibition of fill was they claimed they didn’t have sufficient 

time to conduct a thorough study. The proposal was turned in on July 11th and they had it for 4 

weeks, which should have allowed for enough time to ask questions and concerns to the Town 

Planner. She is recommending any future bylaws be submitted to the Select Board as early as 

possible and hold a workshop well before the closing.  

 

Ms. Waygan reiterated that a portion is still on the Warrant.  

 

Mr. Balzarini reminded the Board if they did not put it on the Warrant, the town would lose 

credit on flood insurance. This creates a lot of problems with the drainage during really heavy 

rain on those roads.  

 

Ms. Faulkner echoed that was a small measure and builders were still able to build and it 

would also go toward the water shed permit by doing anything to help this town, apart from 

sewers. 

 

Ms. Waygan would like to look at the MVP and Hazard Mitigation Plan and hold workshops 

with the Building Commissioner, Town Planner, and Barnstable County Flood Coordinator and 

discuss the floodplain and see if it should be resubmitted.   

 

Mr. Lehrer communicated they were just trying to get ahead of the curve. The prohibition of fill 

is a FEMA regulation and will soon be a federal regulation. He is more than happy to host a 

workshop.  

 

Ms. Waygan thinks in the Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness Plan (MVP), flooding is a top 

concern that was identified.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

10 
 

Ms. Faulkner commented coastal flooding and erosion is number one.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated they are due for an update on the MVP.  

 

Low Impact Development Zoning Bylaw amendment  

The Select Board voted unanimously and recommended to put it on the Warrant for Town 

Meeting. Ms. Waygan would like to provide some education on low impact development, 

whether that be a flyer or a slide show.  

 

Chris Ball stated it was canceled.  

 

TOWN PLANNER REPORT 

Mr. Lehrer is happy to announce his new staff member, Jennifer Thomas. He will introduce her 

at a later meeting and he is happy to have her on board.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  

None at this time.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS  

Cape Cod Commission-  They are having a full meeting 9/22 at 3p.m. One 

agenda item is a regional housing strategy plan. The 

Zoom is on the CCC website under the calendar tab. 

HAC will also be putting forward a housing action 

plan.  

Community Preservation Committee- The annual Public Hearing is October 6th at Senior 

Center at 6:00p.m. Applications for funding are due 

early November.  

Design Review-  118 Echo Road, the owner is NextGrid. They want to 

build canopies with mounted solar modules and use it 

as a contractor storage yard. It is located on a 4.26 

acre lot and they need a special permit with the 

maximum impervious coverage of 93,026s.f. (LID was 

on her mind, she volunteered they should do 

stormwater management to encourage some LID 

planning). It is under the ZBA Special Permit as they 

need it for the contractor’s yard but significant 

portions are in the groundwater protection district. Mr. 

Lehrer believes this is the facility that had been turned 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

11 
 

into a junk yard where the town had to fund the 

cleanup. It went under an environmental review and it 

is a vacant site stripped of all top soil, an already 

significantly disturbed site.  

The second review was at 79 Echo Rd., it is a storage 

area for flooring materials for a retail store. It sits on 2 

acres and is just under 10,000 s.f. She noted they 

selected interesting colors and it will be reasonably 

attractive.     

Plan Review-     No Report  

Environmental Oversight Committee- No Meeting  

Historic District Commission-   No Meeting  

Harbor Management Plan Committee- No Meeting  

Mr. Hansen noted the positions will be advertised for 

the At-Large members, so anyone can apply, as 

noted at the recent Select Board meeting.  

 

Ms. Waygan also noted while discussing the Select Board meeting, Brian Howe’s presentation 

is rescheduled to October 3rd for water quality.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated that is the same day as the proposed virtual workshop. He will reschedule 

the workshop. He does not anticipate it will be highly attended so he can manage alone. He 

has not advertised anything yet, but he will check with Ms. Sweet to confirm her availability. In 

the event she is unavailable he will be able to move forward. He will look at available options 

but the sooner the better because he wants to get the community engagement completed.  

 

ADJOURNMENT  

Ms. Faulkner made a motion to adjourn the meeting of the Planning Board at 8:00p.m. 

Seconded by Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

Christine M. MacDonald  

Board Secretary  

 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

12 
 

 

 

LIST OF DOCUMENTS  

Additional documents may be available in the Planning Department.  

- Town of Falmouth Notices  

- Town of Sandwich Notices  

- Town of Barnstable Notices  

- MGL Ch. 91 Waterways Application Notice – Warren Q. and Kim R. Fields, 25 Taffrail Way 

- July 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 4.5  

- June 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 5.3  

- May 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 9.3  

 

 

  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

1 
 

Mashpee Planning Board 

 Minutes of Meeting 

Wednesday, September 29, 2022 at 7:05PM 

Mashpee Town Hall - Waquoit Meeting Room 

16 Great Neck Road North 

Mashpee, Ma 02649 

 

Broadcast Live on Local Channel 18  

Call-in Conference Number: (508)-539-1400 x 8585 

Streamed Live on the Town of Mashpee website 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel -18 

 

Present: Chair Mary Waygan, Dennis Balzarini, Karen Faulkner 

Also Present: Evan Lehrer – Town Planner (Via Zoom)  

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairwoman Waygan called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 7:05P.M. with a 

quorum. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  

 

NEW BUSINESS  

Request for release of covenant recorded at the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds at 

Book 1480 Page 1154 pertaining to property addressed at 52 Oregon Road (Map 22 

Parcel 126) in the Santuit Woods Subdivision (originally referred to as Timberlane 

Shores) plan recorded at the Barnstable Country Registry of Deeds in Tube 160 

(property shown as lot 144). 

Mr. Lehrer stated this subdivision, now known as Santuit Woods, was approved by the 

Planning Board back in 1970. These public ways are now owned by the Town of Mashpee. It is 

fully built out and there are numerous releases for individual lots throughout the subdivision 

and this one was never released because it remained vacant. They are approaching a closing 

next week and want the Board to consider a release of the covenant prior to the closing so 

they can convey the property. Given this is a completed subdivision there is no utility work or 

road work that needs to be accomplished to access the property. He would recommend 

release as requested.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to approve the release of the covenant. Seconded by Ms. 

Faulkner. All in favor.  

 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel%20-18


  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

2 
 

As Mr. Lehrer is not in the office, he will have the release document available if they can stop 

by the Town Clerks office tomorrow for signing. All three signatures will be needed.  

 

Ms. Waygan suggested she have it emailed to her and she will have it notarized and bring it to 

Town Hall for Mr. Balzarini and Ms. Faulkner to sign on Monday.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING   

7:10PM To review the following zoning articles proposed for action at 

the October 17, 2022 Town Meeting  

 

-  Warrant Article 7: To ask the Town amend §174-27.2 (A) Stormwater Management     

of the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw. This Article would mandate that 

stormwater low impact design strategies be utilized.  

 

- Warrant Article 8: To ask the Town amend §174-27.2 (B)(2) of the Mashpee Zoning 

Bylaw by adding new subsections (d) and (e) after §174-

27.2(B)(2)(c) (Stormwater Management). This Article specifies 

specific low impact design requirements for removal of nitrogen 

and phosphorus from stormwater at single and two family 

dwellings.  

 

- Warrant Article 9: To ask the Town reformat and amend §174-27.2 (B) (3) of the 

Mashpee Zoning Bylaw by adding new subsections ‘vi’ and ‘vii’ 

under current §174.27.2 (B) (3) (v) and indenting appropriately 

(Stormwater Management) This Article specifies specific low 

impact design requirements for the removal of nitrogen and 

phosphorus from stormwater at all lots that are not single and two 

family dwellings. i.e. commercial and industrial buildings and 

multifamily residential  

 

- Warrant Article 10: To see if Town will vote to repeal Article XI: Floodplain Zone 

Provisions in its entirety and replace with new Article XI: Floodplain 

Zone Overlay. This will replace current floodplain zone previsions. 

It is mandatory to remain in the national floodplain insurance 

program. (The prohibition of the use of fill no longer pertains).  

 

- Warrant Article 11: To see if the Town will vote to add the floodplain definitions as a 

new subsection 174-3.1. It would add definitions that pertain to 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

3 
 

development in the floodplain: development, floodway, functionally 

dependent use, highest adjacent grade, historic structure, new 

construction, recreational vehicle, regulatory floodway, special 

flood hazard area, start of construction, structure, substantial 

repair of foundation, variance violation, Zone A, Zone AE, Zone 

AH, Zone AO, Zone X, Zone V, and Zone VE. 

 

Ms. Waygan asked for Public Comment on these proposed changes to the Zoning Bylaw.   

 

Lynne Barbee - Ms. Barbee asked which Article pertained to the actual Floodplain bylaw. She 

was informed it was Article 10. Ms. Barbee then commented after watching what happened in 

Florida, it is astonishing to her that we might allow people to use fill somewhere on the 

floodplain.   

 

Michaela Colombo- She echoes Ms. Barbee’s concerns. She thinks it is inevitable we will get 

that type of hurricane this way. She was disappointed at the last meeting when it was 

recommended after all the time, thought, preparation, and document with the video that 

answered all the questions, she was disappointed fill was removed, its dangerous. Climate 

change is coming faster than anticipated. She is hoping this will be reconsidered in May.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to close the Public Hearing. Seconded by Ms. Faulkner. All 

in favor.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to recommend Articles 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11 to Town Meeting 

for approval. Seconded by Ms. Faulkner. All in favor.  

 

Ms. Faulkner wanted to be clear, her recommendation does not mean approval. She asked if it 

was a 2/3 vote at Town Meeting.  

 

Ms. Waygan reiterated if there is no recommendation it will not get to Town Meeting. You can 

either recommend or not recommend. She stated when these Articles come up she will report 

to Town Meeting how the Planning Board voted. 

 

 

 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

4 
 

ADJOURNMENT  

MOTION: 

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:23p.m. Seconded by Ms. All in 

favor.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

Christine M. MacDonald  

Board Secretary  



LOCUS MAP

ISSUED FOR PERMITTING
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

LOCUS

INDEX OF DRAWINGS

DEFINITIVE SUBDIVISION PLAN

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)
MASHPEE, MASSACHUSETTS

AUGUST 27, 2021

1 TITLE SHEET
2

3-4 PLAN & PROFILE
5 EROSION & SEDIMENT

6 SIGHT DISTANCE & TURNING

MARCELLO MALLEGNI
80 AIRPORT ROAD
HYANNIS, MA 02601

OVERALL LOT PLAN

CONTROL PLAN

LEAMAR DRIVE

REVISED: APRIL 29, 2022

349 Main Street - Route 28
W. Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

7-8 DETAIL SHEETS
PLAN



349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISION

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

OVERALL LOT PLAN

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN



LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

O
H
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G GE E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E

D D D D D D D D DD D D D D D D

D

349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISON

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

PLAN & PROFILE
LEAMAR DRIVE

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN



LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

LEAMAR DRIVE

100

110

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

W

W

G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G
E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E

D D D D D
D

D

D

D

D

D

D D D D

349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISION

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

PLAN & PROFILE
LEAMAR DRIVE

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN 



349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISON

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

EROSION & SEDIMENT
CONTROL PLAN

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN



349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

ISSUED FOR PERMITTING
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISION

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

SIGHT DISTANCE &
TURNING PLAN

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN



(5
'-0

" [
15

24
] M

IN
.)

SOLIDS STORAGE SUMP

INLET PIPE, OPTIONAL
(IF PIPE IS REQUIRED,

INVERT IS 3" [76] HIGHER
THAN OUTLET INVERT)

VA
R

IE
S

1'
-3

" [
38

1]
 M

IN
.

SECTION A-A

12" [305]Ø
REMOVABLE

DROP TEE

CONTRACTOR TO GROUT
TO FINISHED GRADE

GRADE RINGS/RISERS
(NOT PROVIDED BY CONTECH)

STORMCEPTOR
INSERT

PERMANENT
POOL ELEVATION

REMOVABLE
DROP TEE

HANDLE

1'
-5

" [
43

2]

1'
-8

" [
50

8]

W
EI

R

4" [102]Ø
OUTLET
RISER

4" [102]Ø OIL
INSPECTION PIPE
(CAP OPTIONAL)

OUTLET PIPE

349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISION

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

DETAIL SHEET I

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN

GENERAL NOTES
1. CONTECH TO PROVIDE ALL MATERIALS UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.
2. FOR SITE SPECIFIC DRAWINGS WITH DETAILED STRUCTURE DIMENSIONS AND WEIGHT, PLEASE CONTACT YOUR CONTECH ENGINEERED

SOLUTIONS LLC REPRESENTATIVE.  www.ContechES.com
3. STORMCEPTOR WATER QUALITY STRUCTURE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL DESIGN DATA AND INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS

DRAWING. CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM STRUCTURE MEETS REQUIREMENTS OF PROJECT.
4. STORMCEPTOR STRUCTURE SHALL MEET AASHTO HS20 LOAD RATING, ASSUMING EARTH COVER OF 0' - 2' [610], AND GROUNDWATER

ELEVATION AT, OR BELOW, THE OUTLET PIPE INVERT ELEVATION. ENGINEER OF RECORD TO CONFIRM ACTUAL GROUNDWATER
ELEVATION. CASTINGS SHALL MEET AASHTO M306 AND BE CAST WITH THE CONTECH LOGO.

5. STORMCEPTOR STRUCTURE SHALL BE PRECAST CONCRETE CONFORMING TO ASTM C478 AND AASHTO LOAD FACTOR DESIGN METHOD.
6. ALTERNATE UNITS ARE SHOWN IN MILLIMETERS [mm].



349 Main Street - Route 28
West Yarmouth, Massachusetts
02673

508 778 8919

IN

DEFINITIVE
SUBDIVISION

532 MAIN STREET (ROUTE 130)

MASHPEE
MASSACHUSETTS
(BARNSTABLE COUNTY)

DETAIL SHEET II

AUGUST 27, 2021

PLAN



PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
43 Porter Lane 

West Dennis, MA 02670 
Phone: 508-333-7630 
epesce@comcast.net 

 

 
March 28, 2022 

Mashpee Planning Board 
Attn: Mr. Evan Lehrer, Town Planner 
Mashpee Town Hall  
16 Great Neck Road North 
Mashpee, MA 02649 
 
 
RE:  Engineering Review of the Proposed Definitive Subdivision (Leamar Drive)   
        Located at 532 Main Street (Rt. 130), Mashpee, MA 
 
Dear Mr. Lehrer & Members of the Planning Board:  
 
Pesce Engineering & Associates, Inc. is pleased to provide you this engineering review of the 
subject definitive subdivision to be located at 532 Main Street (Rt. 130), Mashpee, MA.  We 
have evaluated the plans for consistency with the Town's Zoning Bylaw, the Subdivision Rules 
& Regulations (SR&R), and conformance with the Massachusetts Stormwater Management 
Regulations.   
 
In addition to a site visit on March 15th, we have reviewed the following information to prepare 
this letter report: 

 

• Site Development Plans entitled “Definitive Subdivision Plan Leamar Drive, 532 Main 
Street (Route 130), Mashpee, Massachusetts,” prepared by the BSC Group, 8 Sheets, 
dated August 27, 2021, and revised February 11, 2022.   
 

• Stormwater Report for Definitive Subdivision, 532 Main Street Route 130), Mashpee, MA 
02571, prepared by the BSC Group, dated February 2022.   
 

This project calls for the proposed construction of a new 9-lot subdivision with a subdivision 
road consisting of a 50’ wide right of way, a 24’ wide travel lane (paved), and approximately 
2,035 ft. in length, including the cul-de-sac.  The existing parcel is an 18.04 (+/-) acre generally 
rectangular strip of land between Echo Road and Nicoletta’s Way, located mostly in the 
Commercial-3 (C3) and Light Industrial (LI) Zoning Districts, with a small portion of Lot 1 on the 
west side of the site located in the Residental-5 (R5) Zoning District.  Note that Lot 1 is a larger 
lot than the other 8 lots, comprising 8.16 acres. 
 
This parcel is also partially located within a DEP-designated Zone II of a public drinking water 
supply well.  Additionally, it is located within the Ground Water Protection Overlay District 
(partially), and the Light Industrial Overlay District (partially).  The project site is entirely upland 
area, and is not located within the 100-yr. floodplain.  The proposed lots will be serviced by the 
municipal water system and on-site Title 5 septic systems. 
 
The following are our review comments: 
 
Site Plan, Layout & Utilities 
 
We have the following site plan, layout and utilities comments: 

 



Mashpee Planning Board 
Leamar Dr. Subdivision Engineering Review 

March 28, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 

 
 

PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC.                                          Phone 508-333-7630 
43 Porter Lane, West Dennis, MA 02670  
 

1. We recommend that the Mashpee Fire Dept. review these plans (and provide comments to 
the Pl. Bd. if they haven’t already) regarding the adequacy of emergency vehicle access, 
and the proposed number of fire hydrants and their locations. 
 

2. From our site visit we noted that trees and brush on the north side of the intersection of the 
subdivision road with Main Street will need be cleared and trimmed back, in order to provide 
adequate safe sight distance.  We recommend that a note regarding this be added to the 
plans. 
 

3. We have the following water system design comments: 
 

a. We recommend that the water line be added to the roadway profiles. 
 

b. On the plans, the water line appears to terminate near DMH-5 before the cul-de-
sac.  We recommend that this design be revised to show the water main 
continuing through to the west side of the cul-de-sac (to service this large lot), and 
possibly ending with another fire hydrant to allow for periodic flushing.  

 
c. We recommend that the applicant’s engineer discuss with the Mashpee Water 

District the possibility of connecting to the water main on either Echo Road or 
Nicoletta’s Way.  We note that hydrant at the end of Nicoletta’s Way is located 
near the lot line between Lots 2 & 3 at the south end of these lots.  
 
This will allow the water main to be “looped” to provide at least 2 benefits: 1) 
Improved water quality by looping/connecting the water mains, and 2) Providing 
an alternate water source for the subdivision in the event of a water main break or 
other problem. 
 

4. We recommend the construction details shown on sheet 7 of 8 for the “Typical Roadway 
Pavement Section”, “Modified Cape Cod Berm”, and “Hot Mix Asphalt Pavement Sections” 
show the required design thickness of the compacted gravel borrow base.  
 

5. We recommend that a detail for the proposed street light and lamp post be added to the 
plans.  This street light should be downward facing, and have grill guards or shields to 
provide a 90-degree vertical cut off in order to be “Dark Sky” compliant. 

 
Stormwater Management 
 
This project proposes to mitigate post-development runoff via the use of a new stormwater 
management system.  The runoff from the subdivision road will be collected into several pairs of 
deep-sump catch basins (with outlet hoods), piped to drain manholes, which discharge to 
Stormceptor® treatment units to remove additional Total Suspended Solids (TSS) required in a 
Zone II (Mass. Stormwater Handbook, Standard #6, treatment before infiltration for stormwater 
discharges within a Zone II), which is then piped to 3 stormwater infiltration basins.  These 
infiltration basins have been sized to accommodate the road runoff from the 100-yr. storm 
event.   
 
We have the following stormwater management comments: 



Mashpee Planning Board 
Leamar Dr. Subdivision Engineering Review 

March 28, 2022 
Page 3 

 
 

 
 

PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC.                                          Phone 508-333-7630 
43 Porter Lane, West Dennis, MA 02670  
 

1. We recommend that the applicant’s engineer consider using the design rainfall data based 
on the NOAA Atlas 14, Volume 10, Version 3 precipitation data.  This database is now 
widely used by many municipalities, as this database reflects precipitation estimates that 
reflect the latest climate change statistics (for example the 24-hr., 100-yr. storm event for 
Mashpee, MA is 7.51 inches vs. the 7.10 inches used in the design). 
 

2. The proposed contours for the infiltration basins on the plans need to be labeled for clarity 
during construction.  

 
3. There is an existing culvert and concrete headwall for a drainage pipe crossing Rt. 130 at 

the northern end of the site.  We recommend that the Erosion & Sediment Control Plan 
(sheet 5 of 8) show appropriate erosion controls at this inlet for the construction period. 
 

4. We have the following comments regarding the Long-Term Pollution Prevention & Operation 
and Maintenance Plan (Section 5.0): 

 
a. Add page numbers for ease in referencing in the future. 

 
b. The “Maintenance Responsibility” section mentions the “Applicant.”  We 

recommend that this be changed to “Owner/Applicant/Homeowners Association” 
in case there is a transfer of ownership in the future, or if a homeowner’s 
association is created. 

 
c.  Add a line for a name, date, and signature by the Owner/Applicant/Homeowners 

Association.  This will ensure that the owner/applicant/HOA is aware of and 
understands the recommended maintenance and inspections that will be 
required in the future. 
 

d. The list of emergency contacts is currently blank.  We recommend that this list be 
populated, and a revised Long-Term Pollution Prevention & Operation and 
Maintenance Plan be provided to the Board prior to the start of construction (at 
the Board’s discretion, this may be added as a Condition in the Decision). 

 
Thank you for this opportunity to assist the Planning Board in their review of this project, and as 
always, please call or e-mail me if you have any questions or comments. 
 

Sincerely,  
 
PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
Edward L. Pesce., P.E., LEED ® AP 
Principal  
 
 
cc: Kieran J. Healy, PLS, CFM, BSC Group 





















M E M O R A N D U M 

To:  Mashpee Planning Board 

From:  Evan Lehrer, Town Planner 

Date:  May 2, 2022 

Re: Zoning and other regulatory considerations for Leamar Drive Definitive 

 

 

Distance between Echo Road and Nicoletta’s Way 

Provided:  253.3’ (Proposed to Nicoletta’s) 

Subdivision Rules and Regulations:  

There shall not be less than 100’ between the centerlines of any roadways (Street Design 

Standards: Plate #1) 

Zoning Bylaw:  

174-40 Accessways in Non-Residential Districts:  

 In the C-1, C-2, C-3 and I-1 zoning districts, there shall be required a minimum separation of two 

hundred (200’) feet between the centerline of any accessway to Routes 28, 151 or 130 or to Great 

Neck Road North and any other such accessway or to the sideline of any street intersecting said 

roadways. Said minimum separation shall also be maintained between any accessway to a street 

intersecting said roadways and the sideline of said roadways. 

Curb Cut Permit Policy 

A curb cut permit for a project that generates more than 30 vehicle trips per day may require additional 

technical review beyond that which the DPW Director normally provides.  The technical consultant will 

review the application and propose potential mitigating measures. 

 

Local Comprehensive Plan 

 

Requires project proponents to demonstrate, prior to any approvals before the Board, that there will be 

no degradation of traffic safety prior to the issuance of any approvals or permits. 

 

Further, it requires that proponents demonstrate that the development will not degrade travel times, 

level of service, intersection delay, volume to capacity ratio, reserve capacity, or any other performance 

indicators for surrounding roadways. 

 

Prohibits the development of new driveway curb-cuts on major roadways except where no feasible 

alternative site access is possible. 

 

 



Cape Cod Commission DRI (2004) 

 
Condition G6 in the Decision reads: "A Certificate of Compliance from the Cape Cod 
Commission shall be obtained by the Applicant prior to the sale or conveyance of any lot, 
or prior to the issuance of any local permits or any development as defined by the Cape Cod 
Commission Act, within the 18 acre property as described on the plans entitled "Site Sketch 
Plan, prepared by Coastal Engineering, Inc, dated July 3, 2003 and revised July 21, 2004" or on a 
subsequent Definitive Plan as approved and endorsed by the Town of Mashpee Planning 
Board. The restoration landscaping as described under Conditions CC1, CC2, and CC3 and the 
division of land for proposed open space as described in Condition NR1 are exempt from this 
Condition." 

 
There are several conditions in the Decision that must be met before the Applicant may obtain 
a Certificate of Compliance, including the open space contribution. 
 
In terms on the expiration of the Decision, while the development rights under DRI Decisions 
expire after seven years, the Decision runs with the land and any conditions or restrictions 
remain in force. 
 

Recommendation: 

 

In consideration of the above cited applicable rules and regulations pertaining to the proposed Leamar 

Drive the Board should consider the balance between the proponent’s right to access the property and 

right to a curb-cut if no feasible alternative is present.  

 

The minimum distance between Nicoletta’s Way and to Echo Road are both compliant with the 

Mashpee Zoning Bylaw and Subdivision Rules and Regulations however the Comprehensive Plan (1998) 

discourages new curb cuts on major roadways if alternate site access is feasible.  

 

The best case scenario in terms of mitigating anticipated transportation impacts is access from 

Nicoletta’s Way.   

 

If rights to Nicoletta’s Way are not able to be negotiated for access then the Board could consider a 

traffic study consistent with the suggestions of the LCP and in the Selectmen’s curb-cut policy to 

ascertain, in consideration of the uses common to the district, the peak hour traffic impacts prior to 

approval.   

 

If the findings of that study demonstrate that the proposed street will not degrade travel times, level of 

service, intersection delay, volume to capacity ratio, reserve capacity, or any other performance 

indicators for surrounding roadways nor creates unsafe traffic conditions then the Board could consider 

approving as proposed. 

 

If the findings adverse, the Board could consider denying the proponent’s request to subdivide, but 

should be cognizant of the likelihood of appeal. Given the property owner’s right to access the property, 



the Town could consider taking the layout of Nicoletta’s Way to avoid the potential transportation 

impacts the proposed road may cause and while providing access to the lot.  

 

In closing, the Board also needs to consider how to manage the required 4-acre open space contribution 

as required by the 2004 DRI decision. While the decision is expired, the conditions and restrictions 

established in that document run with the land. The applicant ought to confer with the Conservation 

Agent on the most appropriate mechanism to handle that transfer. 





Date: 

To: 

From: 

RE: 

Applicant: 

Project: 

CAPE COD COMMISSION 
3225 MAIN STREET 

P.O. BOX226 
BARNSTABLE, MA 02630 

(508) 362-3828 
FAX (508) 362-3136 

E-mail: frontdesk@capecodcommission.org 

September 2, 2004 

Mark Boudreau, Esquire 

Cape Cod Commission 

Development of Regional Impact, 
Sections 12 and 13, Cape Cod Commission Act 

Chris Wickstrom 
Harwich Concrete Block Company 
181 Queen Anne Road 
Harwich, MA 02645 

532 Main St. Clear Cut 
Mashpee,MA 

Project #: TR # 02026 

Book/Page: Book 272, Page 49 

DECISION OF THE CAPE COD COMMISSION 

SUMMARY 

The Cape Cod Commission (Commission) hereby approves with conditions tbe DRI application 
of Chris Wickstrom, owner oftbe Harwich Concrete Block, Mashpee, MA pursuant to Sections 
12 and 13 oftbe Cape Cod Commission Act (Act), c. 716 of the Acts of 1989, as amended, for 
the clear cutting and mitigation of approximately 2.7 acres at 532 Main Street, Mashpee, MA 
(Project). The decision is rendered pursuant to a vote oftbe Commission on September 2, 2004. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The site of the approximately 2.7-acre clear cut is on an 18-acre parcel at 532 Main Street (Route 
130) in Mashpee, MA. The site is currently a Significant Natural Resource Area (SNRA) as 
mapped by the Regional Policy Plan (RPP) containing undisturbed, unfragmented forest, except 
for the cleared area. The clear cutting occurred in April, 2002 by Harwich Concrete Block 
Company, when tbe property was owned by John Otis Drew. Subsequently, Harwich Concrete 
Block Co. purchased tbe property. Following tbe clear cutting, the Applicant continued to do 
further earthwork such as topsoil removal and digging, and grubbing (removing stumps) of a 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

1 



large area toward the center of the clear cut. The Applicant plans to utilize the cleared area for 
truck turning space, and storage of vehicles and equipment related to the existing concrete block 
business on adjacent, leased property. The Applicant indicated there is potential for future 
development on the site, but nothing is proposed at this time. The Applicant has proposed 
mitigation in the form of permanent protection of 4 acres of land on site, and the revegetation of 
the buffer to Route 130. 

The site is zoned commercial C-3, which allows "covered wholesale and business storage", but 
does not allow open commercial storage of building materials. According to the Mashpee Town 
Planner, the parking and vehicle storage use proposed by Harwich Concrete Block is allowed in 
the C-3 Zone. 

The property abuts Nicoletta's Way to the south, existing commercial businesses along Echo 
Road to the north, open space to the west, and Route 130 and residences to the east. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The Project was referred to the Commission by the Mashpee Building Department on August 22, 
2002. The Commission received the referral on August 22, 2002. A procedural hearing was 
opened on October 17, 2002 by a hearing officer, and continued. The hearing was closed by a 
hearing officer on January 13, 2003. Extensions for project review until September 26, 2003, and 
then to September 26, 2004 were granted by the Regulatory Committee on March 10, 2003 and 
September 22, 2003, respectively. A duly noticed public hearing was conducted pursuant to 
Section 5 of the Act by an authorized subcommittee of the Commission on August 12,2004 at 
the Mashpee Town Hall. The public hearing was continued to September 2, 2004 and the record 
was left open for submission of written materials. 

The subcommittee held a public meeting on August 26, 2004. At that meeting, the subcommittee 
voted unanimously to recommend to the full Commission that the Project be approved as a DRI, 
subject to conditions. A final public hearing was held before the full Commission on September 
2, 2004. At this hearing, the Commission voted unanimously to approve the Project as a DRI, 
subject to conditions. 

MATERIALS SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD 

Materials submitted by the Town: 

• Letter from T. Fudala dated September 1, 2004 
• Email from T. Fudala dated August 13, 2004 
• Email from Tom Fudala, Town Planner, dated August 13, 2004 
• Letter from Russell Wheeler to Harwich Concrete Block dated July 21, 2004 
• DRI Referral via fax August 22, 2002 from R. Wheeler 
• Copy of Mashpee Design Review Committee meeting minutes of July 24, 2002 meeting, via 

fax August 21, 2002 to Dorr Fox. 
• Letter from Russell Wheeler, Mashpee Building Inspector, to Harwich Concrete Block dated 

May 15, 2002 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

2 



Materials submitted by the Applicant: 

• Letter from M. Boudreau dated July 26, 2004 and site sketch plan from Coastal Engineering 
dated July 3, 2003 with revisions dated July 21, 2004 

• DRI Application, quit claim deed, letter from Harry Johnson Tree Farm to Chris Wickstrom, 
dated July 22, 2004 

• Letter dated June 23, 2004 from J. Costedio, surveyor, toM. Boudreau 
• Letter dated May 28, 2004 and sketch plan from Jack Costedio, surveyor, to C. Wickstrom 
• Site photographs, Tree Restoration Plan dated January 22, 2003, and tree species list from C. 

Wickstrom to CCC staff on July 25, 2003 
• Letter from J. McAuliffe toM. Twombly dated January !3, 2003 
• Letter from John McAuliffe, Attorney for Chris Wickstrom, to Martha Twombly dated June 7, 
2002 

Materials submitted by Interested Parties: 

• Copy of a letter from S. Heimberg to Mashpee Board of Selectmen dated August 26, 2004 
• Letter from S. Heimberg dated August 12, 2004 
• Letter from S. Heimberg dated August 9, 2004 
• Letter and photographs from Arden and Steven Cadrin dated August 9, 2004 
• Letter from S. Heimberg toM. Twombly dated July 27, 2004 
• Letter from Sidney Heimberg to Jamie Reagan, Chair of the Mashpee ZBA, dated July 27, 
2004 

• Email from Arden Cadrin toM. Twombly dated July 25, 2002 

Materials submitted by Cape Cod Commission: 

• Draft Hearing Minutes from August 12, 2004 public hearing, dated August 20, 2004 
• Staff Report dated August 4, 2004 
• Letter from M. Twombly toM. Boudreau dated July 14, 2002 
• Memo from M. Twombly to Tom Fudala, Mashpee Town Planner and R. Wheeler, via fax, 

dated July 8, 2004 
• Letter from M. Twombly to M. Boudreau dated July 6, 2004 
• Fax from M. Twombly to Mark Boudreau, attorney for C. Wickstrom, dated August 27, 2003 
• Letter from M. Twombly to C. Wickstrom dated July 17, 2003 
• Memo from M. Twombly to subcommittee dated February 28, 2003 
• Letter from M. Twombly to C. Wickstrom dated January 6, 2003 
• Letter from M. Twombly to C. Wickstrom dated October 17, 2002 
• Letter from M. Twombly to Russell Wheeler, Mashpee Building Inspector, dated August 21, 
2002 

• Letter from M. Twombly to John McAuliffe, attorney for C. Wickstrom, dated July 12, 
2002 

• Letter from Martha Twombly to Chris Wickstrom dated May I 0, 2002 
• Letter from Dorr Fox to John Drew, owner of 532 Main St., dated April25, 2002 
• Digital photos of the clear cut submitted by Tana Watt, CCC planner, to Dorr Fox in April 

2002 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

3 



The application and notices of public hearings relative thereto, the Commission staffs notes, 
exhibits and correspondence, the transcript and minutes of meetings and hearings and all written 
submissions received in the course of our proceedings are incorporated into the record by 
reference. 

TESTIMONY 

Hearing #I- August 12, 2004 

Mr. Boudreau, attorney for the Applicant, stated that Chris Wickstrom is owner of the adjacent 
Harwich Concrete Block (HCB) business and that the subject property was under purchase 
agreement since 2001 with owner John Drew. While under contract, clearing was done on the 
property to create truck-turning space for the existing business. As mitigation for the clearing 
Mr. Wickstrom proposed to permanently protect four acres of open space on the site, and to 
revegetate the 50' buffer along Route 130. He said there are no current development plans but 
future plans may include the subdivision and sale of land to adjacent businesses along Echo 
Road, and/or be used for the existing HCB. He stated that any future development would go 
through local or Commission review. 

Commission staff stated that the open space set-aside of four acres was acceptable as mitigation, 
and recommended a wider buffer along Route 130. Staff explained that clear cutting results in 
increased nitrogen loading to water resources and recommended a cash contribution for 
mitigation. 

Mr. Broidrick raised questions about project segmentation, about uses permitted by local zoning, 
and about the lease term on the adjacent property. Mr. Boudreau answered that C-3 zoning on the 
subject parcel allowed a covered building, but did not allow outdoor storage of building 
materials, and that the lease for the existing business was 6 or 7 years. 

Public Testimony 

Sidney Heimberg expressed concerns about impacts to the Mashpee Wakeby Pond and the lack 
of consideration Mr. Wickstrom has shown to residents regarding dust, wind, stormwater, and 
truck traffic. He stated that open space protection was needed along Route 130, and that access 
should be from Nicoletta's Way. 

Henry DeRocher wanted the cleared area to be revegetated with large, mature trees. 

Steve Cadrin supported a 200' buffer along Route 130, and suggested a bond be levied to insure 
that revegetation is completed. 

Barnet Berliner recommended that Mr. Wickstrom replace what was cleared rather than making 
a monetary contribution as mitigation. 

Mr. Boudreau said the Applicant needed at least an 80' opening for safe movement of his large 
trucks into the parcel, leaving a maximum buffer to Route 130 of no more than 70'. 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

4 



Ms. Kadar asked about the four-acre open space parcel isolated at the foot of the property. Ms. 
McElroy explained that it maintains the integrity of existing wildlife habitat with adjacent 
parcels. 

Mr. Broidrick asked about stormwater management and Mr. Cole asked about site plan review 
for the cleared area. Mr. Boudreau answered that the Applicant would still have to go through 
local review for any type of development, and satisfy stormwater and parking requirements for 
the town. 

Ms. Taylor suggested at least a 70' buffer to Route 130 be required. 

Ken Clinton said that land along Route 130 should be preserved rather than land at the back of 
the property. 

Mr. Fox clarified the Commission's scope regarding the clear cutting threshold, the DR! review 
process, and the setting of appropriate mitigation measures. 

JURISDICTION 

The Project qualifies as a Development of Regional Impact (DR!) under Section 3(e) of the DR! 
Enabling Regulations for "site alterations or site disturbance greater than 2 acres, including but 
not limited to clear cutting, grading, and clearing land, unless such alteration or disturbance is 
conducted in conjunction with a building permit for a structure or a DR! approval or in 
conjunction with a municipal project." 

FINDINGS 

The Commission has considered the application of Chris Wickstrom regarding the clear cutting, 
and based on consideration of such application and upon the information presented at the public 
hearing and submitted for the record, makes the following findings pursuant to Sections 12 and 
13 of the Act: 

General Findings: 

Gl. The Project consists of clear cutting of, and mitigation for, approximately 2.7 
acres, on a portion of an 18-acre parcel, located between Echo Road and Nicoletta's Way 
on Route 130 in Mashpee, MA. This includes earthwork and grubbing on approximately 
1.3 acres within the 2.7 acre clear cut. This Project approval anticipates the future use of 
1.9 acres within the interior of the 2. 7 acre cleared area for future development (where 
site restoration is not being required), and requires the revegetation of buffers to Rt. 130 
and Nicoletta's Way. 

G2. The Mashpee zoning bylaw requires a minimum 50-foot buffer between proposed 
development and Route 130. The clear cutting included the clearing of the required 50' 
buffer. The town has notified the property owner of this violation, and has been consulted 
as part of this review to rectify the action. 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

5 



G3. The Applicant cleared the land without a valid building permit for a structure or DRI 
approval. The land clearing was not completed in conjunction with a municipal project. 

G4. The Project is being reviewed under the 2002 RPP. 

Water Resource Findings: 

WRl. The Applicant cleared approximately 2.7 acres ofunfragmented forest and removed 
approximately 1.3 acres of topsoil within the 2. 7 acres at the site, a location in a Potential 
Public Water Supply Area and in the Mashpee River watershed. These regional 
resources are regulated under MPS 2.1.1.2.C and 2.1.1.2.F of the RPP, respectively. 

WR2. The nitrogen load to the Mashpee River watershed exceeds the estuary's critical 
nitrogen load. Therefore, MPS 2.1.1.2.C.2 applies to the Project, requiring that no 
additional nitrogen load be permitted to the Mashpee River watershed by Developments 
of Regional Impact. 

WR3. Based on Technical Bulletin 91-001 methodology, the clear cutting and soil removal 
results in a 6.5 kg-N/yr increase in nitrogen load to the Mashpee River watershed. An 
equivalent amount of nitrogen load will need to be eliminated from the Mashpee River 
watershed such that the project complies with MPS 2.1.1.2.C.2. The estimated cost to 
mitigate 6.5 kg-N/yr of nitrogen in the Mashpee River watershed is $10,125. This 
contribution may be reduced to $8,750 in conjunction with the revegetation of the tOO
foot buffer along the property's entire frontage on Route 130 in accordance with 
Conditions CCI and CC2. 

WR4. The clear cutting and soil removal meets the 1-ppm-N nitrogen-loading limit applicable 
to Potential Public Water Supply Areas. 

WRS. Based on a site visit conducted by Cape Cod Commission staff, the clear cutting and soil 
removal does not appear to result in the potential for storm water runoff to offsite areas 
from areas where top soil has been removed. 

Natural Resource/Open Space Findings: 

NRl. Based on staff and town analysis, the area of clear cutting is approximately 2.7 acres 
on the site. This 2. 7 acres included approximately 1.3 acres of earthwork and grubbing in 
a central portion of the clear cut. According to the plan, 1.9 acres will remain cleared (the 
development area), and it is upon this area that the open space requirement is based. The 
remaining cleared area located within the buffers to the site shall be mitigated through the 
revegetation and permanent protection of these buffers as required in Condition CC3. 

NR2. MPS 2.4.1.2 requires that the clearing of vegetation shall be minimized. The clearing that 
occurred at 532 Main was executed without regard to minimizing vegetation removal. 

NR3. As the site is located in a Significant Natural Resource Area due to the presence of 
unfragmented forest and a potential public water supply protection area, the Applicant 
must provide an area twice the development area of the clear cut to comply with the RPP 

532 Main Street TR # 02026- Decision 
September 2, 2004 

6 



open space requirement, MPS 2.5.1.3. Harwich Concrete Block has agreed to donate a 4-
acre lot at the rear of the site to the Town ofMas.hpee to comply with the open space 
standard. 

NR4. As the project site is also located in the Mashpee National Wildlife Refuge, and was 
previously identified as potential open space to be acquired by the town, the location of 
the open space at the rear of the Jot, in proximity to both existing protected open space 
and the Otis airfields, is appropriate for wildlife protection purposes. 

Community Character Findings: 

CCI. The clear cutting action triggered DRI review as it completely removed the naturally 
vegetated buffer to Route 130, a regional roadway, where local and regional regulations 
require the protection of natural landscapes as buffers between roadways and any 
development. Revegetation of the site as described in Conditions CCI and CC2 will help 
restore the vegetated buffer to this regional roadway. 

CC2. MPS 6.2.9 requires that "all development shall implement a landscape plan that addresses 
the functional aspects of landscaping, such as drainage, erosion prevention, wildlife 
enhancement, screening and buffering, wind barriers, provision for shade, energy 
conservation, sound absorption, dust abatement, and reduction of glare." Adjacent 
residential areas to the clear cutting have been experiencing these impacts based on 
testimony received at the public hearing. Implementation of a buffer restoration plan will 
mitigate these impacts to neighboring residential areas. 

CC3. There is currently robust regrowth of oak, pitch pine, tupelo, and native understory 
vegetation in the clear cut area between the excavated area and Route 130 and along the 
northern and southern property lines. These areas, if left undisturbed and supplemented 
with an earthen berm and additional planting of the berm, will provide an adequate buffer 
between any future development of the site and the roadway, as well as other adjacent 
uses. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the findings above, the Commission hereby concludes: 

1. With mitigation measures, the Project will be consistent with the RPP. 

2. With mitigation, the Project will be consistent with local zoning and the Mashpee Local 
Comprehensive Plan, based on consultation with the Mashpee town planner. 

3. The proposed Project is not within a District of Critical Plarming Concern (DCPC). 

4. The benefits outlined in Findings WR3, NR3, CCI, CC2, and CC3 outweigh the detriments of 
leaving the site in its currently disturbed and degraded condition. 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 -Decision 
September 2, 2004 

7 



The Cape Cod Commission hereby approves the 532 Main Street clear cutting and mitigation as 
a DRI under Sections 12 and 13 of the Act, provided the following Conditions are met. 

CONDITIONS 

General Conditions: 

Gl. This DRI decision is valid for 7. years and local development permits may be issued 
pursuant hereto for a period of 7 years from the date of the written decision. 

G2. Failure to comply with all conditions stated herein, and with all related statutes and other 
regulatory measures, shall be deemed cause to revoke or modify this decision. 

G3. The Applicant shall obtain all state and local permits for the proposed project. 

G4. No further development work, as the term "development" is defined in the Act, shall be 
undertaken until all appeal periods have elapsed or, if such an appeal has been filed, until 
all judicial proceedings have been completed. 

GS. Prior to issuance of a building permit for any development within the required buffers 
and the cleared area of the Project, the Applicant shall submit final plans as approved by 
local boards for review by Commission staff to determine their consistency with this 
decision and/or information submitted as part of the DRI review. If the final plans 
approved by local boards are inconsistent with this decision and/or supporting 
information, then they shall be reviewed subject to Section 7 of the Cape Cod 
Commission Administrative Regulations, Modifications to Approved DRis, dated 
5/30/02 and as amended from time to time. 

G6. A Certificate of Compliance from the Cape Cod Commission shall be obtained by the 
Applicant prior to the sale or conveyance of any lot, or prior to the issuance of any local 
permits or any development as defined by the Cape Cod Commission Act, within the 18 
acre property as described on the plans entitled "Site Sketch Plan, prepared by Coastal 
Engineering, Inc, dated July 3, 2003 and revised July 21, 2004" or on a subsequent 
Definitive Plan as approved and endorsed by the Town of Mashpee Planning Board. The 
restoration landscaping as described under Conditions CC 1, CC2, and CC3 and the 
division of land for proposed open space as described in Condition NRl are exempt from 
this Condition. 

G7. Prior to a Certificate of Compliance the Applicant shall submit a revised site plan 
showing buffers, open space, and area to be retained as cleared area, to be reviewed and 
approved by Commission staff. 

G8. The Applicant shall be responsible for providing proof of recording of the Decision 
prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance. 

G9. The Applicant shall provide Commission staff with at least thirty (30) days notice of the 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

8 



intent to seek.a Certificate of Compliance. Such notification shall include a list of key 
contact(s) for questions that may arise during the Commission's compliance review. 
Commission staff shall complete an inspection under this condition within seven (7) 
business days of such notification and inform the Applicant in writing of any deficiencies 
and corrections needed. The Applicant understands that the Commission has no 
obligation to issue a Certificate of Compliance unless all conditions are complied with or 
secured consistent with this decision. The Applicant agrees to allow Cape Cod 
Commission staff to enter onto the property that is the subject of this decision for the 
purpose of determining whether the conditions contained in the decision are met. 

Water Resources Conditions: 

WRl. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Compliance the Applicant shall make a monetary 
contribution in the amount of $8,750, payable to Barnstable County, to be used toward 
nitrogen mitigation in the Mashpee River watershed. The contribution shall be disbursed 
at the direction of the Commission's Executive Director. 

Natural Resources/Open Space Conditions: 

NRl. Prior to a Certificate of Compliance, the Applicant shall donate 4 acres as shown on the 
plan from Coastal Engineering dated July 3, 2003 and revised July 21,2004 to the Town 
of Mashpee under the care, custody and control of the Conservation Commission for 
conservation and open space purposes. The deed and plan shall be approved by 
Commission Counsel prior to recording at the registry of deeds. 

Community Character Conditions: 

CCl. The Applicant shall provide permanent vegetated buffers on the site as follows: 

a). Buffer from Route 130 -100' wide from the property line abutting Route 130, 
consisting of areas containing existing second growth vegetation supplemented with 
evergreen trees, and the remainder of the buffer consisting of a mixture of evergreen and 
deciduous trees with understory plantings to form a dense screen from the roadway. All 
planting shall be completed as described in condition CC2 below; 
b). Buffer from properties to the south (Nicolettas Way)- 30' wide from the southern 
property line and approximately 350' along Nicoletta's Way as shown on the plan 
entitled "Site Sketch Plan, prepared by Coastal Engineering, Inc, dated July 3, 2003 and 
revised July 21, 2004", consisting of existing second growth vegetation supplemented 
with evergreen trees to be planted as described in condition CC2 below; 
c). The applicant may seek approval for one (1) curb cut from either Route 130 or 
Nicoletta's Way within the 30' x 350' buffer. The location and width of the curb cut shall 
be approved by the Commission's Regulatory Committee. 

CC2. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance, the Applicant shall submit a buffer 
restoration plan for the areas described in condition #CC 1 for approval by Commission 
staff and the Mashpee Design Review Committee. Such restoration plan shall include the 
following: 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

9 



Areas containing existing second growth vegetation 

• No mechanical equipment shall be used in this area during installation in order to 
protect existing vegetation; 

• Existing trees shall not be removed or damaged during installation; 
• Planting locations shall be staked/flagged in the field prior to installation and approved 
by Commission staff and a representative from the Mashpee Design Review Committee; 

• All planting holes shall be dug by hand; 
• Trees shall be transported to planting locations by a ball cart; 
• 6- 8' evergreen trees shall be planted at a spacing of 15- 20' on-center; 
• Plan shall specify an irrigation system and program to insure the survival of all 
plantings. 

Areas of new planting 

• Plan shall include a 6' high and 30' wide earthen berm with a maximum 3: I slope, 
starting from a point taken a minimum of 65' west of the property line (from Route 
130), and extending 50' from the northern property line, to a point no closer than 50' 
from Nicoletta's Way. 

• Plan shall consist of 60% evergreen and 40% deciduous trees with understory plantings 
to form a dense screen; 

• 6- 8' evergreen trees shall be planted at a spacing of 15- 20' on-center; 
• Deciduous trees shall be a minimum of 3" caliper; 
• Plan shall specify an irrigation system and program to insure the survival of all 
plantings. 

For all areas, planting shall take place only between September I, 2004 -November I, 
2004 or April!- June 15,2005. 

Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance, the applicant shall implement the above 
restoration plan. The Applicant agrees to allow Cape Cod Commission staff to enter onto 
the property that is the subject of this decision for the purpose of determining whether 
this condition has been met. 

CC3. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance the applicant shall record a permanent 
open space deed restriction to maintain the buffer areas as specified in Condition CCI of 
this decision. The deed restriction may allow for one (1) driveway access to the site from 
either Route 130 or Nicoletta's Way within the 30' x 350' buffer, upon approval by the 
Mashpee Planning Board. 

CC4. All plantings installed as a result of this decision shall be subject to a maintenance 
agreement to ensure their survival. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance from 
the Commission, the Applicant shall provide a fully executed landscape maintenance 
contract for three (3) full growing seasons based on guidelines provided by Commission 
staff. 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

10 



CCS. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Compliance, the Applicant shall execute an escrow 
agreement of form and content satisfactory to Commission counsel to ensure the survival 
of all buffer restoration plantings. The amount of the escrow agreement shall equall50% 
of the cost of the restoration planting, including labor and materials, with the amount 
approved by Commission staff. The check shall be payable to Barnstable County. 
Unexpended escrow funds shall be returned to the Applicant, with interest, upon a site 
inspection completed after three (3) full growing seasons. The Applicant agrees to allow 
Cape Cod Commission staff to enter onto the property that is the subject of this decision 
for the purpose of determining whether this condition has been met. 

CC6. Plant materials specified by the landscape restoration plan prepared in accordance with 
Condition CC2 may be substituted with prior written approval of Commission staff. 

The Cape Cod Commission hereby approves with conditions the application of Chris Wickstrom 
as a Development of Regional Impact pursuant to Sections 12 and l3 of the Act, c. 716 of the 
Acts of 1989, as amended, for clear cutting and mitigation ofthat clear cutting located at 532 
Main Street in Mashpee, MA. 

6~(}fofi 
6 

"fla:vid <\,Q,sel, 1 'hair ALAN PLATT v'tc.E 
/ 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
County of Barnstable 

C~Aif<.. 

Date I' 

On this M day of Se tember 20£$• before me, the undersigned notary public, personally 
appeared · , eo to me hrough satisfactory evidence of identification, which were _ 
~ Ol<-to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached 
document, and ackn6tledged to me that he signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose. 

~~~ 
Notary Public2 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

My Commission Expires: ___________ _ 

~ OFFICIAL SEAL 
\t~tJ. DORA STEVEN FOX , NOTARY PUBLIC· MASS. 

BARNSTABLE COUNTY 
My Comm. Expires April 11, 2008 

532 Main Street TR # 02026 - Decision 
September 2, 2004 

11 

































































































































































 

   

REDEVELOPING SUBURBAN SPRAWL
A COLLECTION OF CASE STUDIES

BY: ALEJANDRO BELTRAN
PREPARED FOR THE TOWN OF MASHPEE PLANNING DEPARTMENT

AUGUST 2022

© Thinkstock Images/Jupiterimages
 



pg. 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Purpose………………………………………………………………………………………..………2 

Case Studies 

Assembly Square…………………………………………………….……………………4 

Lancaster BLVD………………………………………………………….………………..6 

Mizner Park…………………………………………………………………………………8 

Promenade of Wayzata……………………………………………..………………10 

Meriden Green………………………………………………………………..…………12 

Mashpee Commons……………………………………………………………..…….14 

References………………………………………………………………………………………….16
 



pg. 2 

 

 REDEVELOPING SUBURBAN SPRAWL 

A Collection of Case Studies 

PURPOSE 
ashpee, Massachusetts has come to be 
valued for its small-town character, 
upheld through the preservation of its 

open space, limited commercialization, unique 
cultural heritage, and diverse natural amenities. 
Residing within Cape Cod, Mashpee is not unlike 
many other towns in its desire to maintain the charm 
that has attracted significant populations of seasonal 
and permanent residents to the area (Spillane, 2017). 
This is often codified via zoning regulations, special 
permitting requirements, and even restrictions on 
architectural styles and material palettes (Special 
Provisions, 2020). As the Town has swelled in 
population over the last several decades, gaining 
popularity as a seasonal retirement community 
(Mockabee, 2022), it is faced with the challenge of 
accommodating the increased strain on its housing 
stock, infrastructure, and services. With the Town’s 
evolving needs, conversations surrounding zoning 
and land use strategies that rely on increased density 
to limit urban sprawl have also risen to the forefront 
of the planning process. This report examines Smart 
Growth strategies and case studies of successful 
suburban retrofits that explore the revitalization of 
underutilized commercial development. These 
retrofits have helped to promote a range of economic, 
social, and environmental benefits and suggest the 
redevelopment potential that exists in Mashpee.  

Given the strong desire of many Mashpee residents to 
retain the Town’s rural character (Mass.gov, 2022), 
it is important to note that its development 
approach—defined by features such as widespread 
automobile dependency and limited density—
arguably facilitates issues of housing insecurity, 
increased traffic congestion, and even the 
overconsumption of land (Habibi & Asadi, 2011; 
OECD, 2018). Despite goals of maximizing open 
space and limiting environmental impact from 
development—outlined in both local and regional 
policy implementation plans—the majority of 

Mashpee’s residential development paradoxically 
mirrors unsustainable patterns of suburban sprawl, 
which has been linked to a variety of negative 
impacts on human health, transportation, and the 
environment (OECD, 2018). For instance, 
approximately 83.2% of the housing stock consists of 
single-family dwellings, with no significant growth in 
multifamily housing opportunities over the last 
several decades (Town of Mashpee, 2015). While 
many favor the rural character that such residential 
form offers under existing zoning, it is critical to 
acknowledge the challenges that emerge from it. The 
Town’s adherence to the conventional practice of 
Euclidean Zoning—wherein separate zones are 
defined by a specified use—may exacerbate issues of 
inequity, land degradation, and poor support for 
multi-modal infrastructure (Watsky, 2018). This, in 
turn, poses barriers to accessibility. Alongside 
sprawling single-family neighborhoods has come the 
development of commercial strips, a pattern of 
commercial building centered around a dependency 
on automobiles, namely as distances between where 
people live and work increases as a result of land-
intensive development patterns (VNRC, 2022).  

By drawing upon the lessons learned from successful 
suburban retrofits throughout the country, Mashpee 
can more effectively facilitate redevelopment in its 
priority areas—namely commercial strips in the C2 
Zone—and encourage the Town to embrace 
sustainable development. Figure I illustrates the type 
of strip development that characterizes the Town’s 
commercial areas and represents an ideal opportunity 
for encouraging mixed-uses. By identifying the 
existing limitations of Smart Growth and observing 
how communities of various development intensities 
have been able to leverage tools of effective urban 
design, the Town may be better equipped to mitigate 
the externalities associated with current development 
practices. As a result, Mashpee can more effectively 

M 



pg. 3 

target gaps that have continued to persist, such as 
barriers to workforce housing (Doyle, 2021).  

Figure I. An example of commercial strip 
development in a C2 Zone, with parking lots along 
the building fronts to enhance automobile access 
from a major arterial in the Town of Mashpee: Route 
151 (Source: Google, 2021).  

Figure II highlights the amount of land that the Town 
of Mashpee allocates solely for residential use, 
namely comprised of single-family dwellings, as 
compared to commercial and industrial zones. This 
further supports the argument that current 
development patterns and zoning regulations 
facilitate low-density sprawl and limit opportunities 
for mixed-use development, which is primarily 
contained to Mashpee’s C1 zone at the geographic 
center of the Town. Smart Growth and New Urbanist 
principles explore opportunities to address the 
impacts of current development patterns on the 
integrity of our natural and built systems. By 
leveraging tools such as form-based codes, increased 
density, and mixed-use zoning, communities are able 
to more effectively utilize developable land, in turn 
limiting pressures of sprawl and maximizing open 
space (CNU, 2000).  

It is critical to note the myriad benefits of 
sustainability that result from building denser, mixed-
use communities in place of those centered around 
cars. Such benefits include limiting the costs and 
energy needed to support transportation and mobility 
networks, improving public health, and reducing 
underutilized land (Starritt, 2018). Despite aims of 
increasing density and encouraging mixed-use 
development, it is worth noting that alternative 
strategies are not limited in scope to the urban core 
but can also be useful for strengthening small-town 
communities such as Mashpee. With its variety of 
activity centers, schools, recreational opportunities, 
and housing developments, there is undoubtedly a 
capacity to leverage tools of Smart Growth. These 
strategies can be used to improve the sustainability of 
the community and enhance opportunities for multi-
modal infrastructure, increased affordable housing, 
and ecological viability.  

   

Figure II. A Zoning Map of Mashpee showing the 
amount of land dedicated to residential development 
(shown in yellow & light pink) as compared to other 
uses (Source: Weston & Sampson, 2022). 



pg. 4 

ASSEMBLY SQUARE  

SOMERVILLE, MASSACHUSETTS 

BACKGROUND 
ssembly Square is a 145-acre mixed-use 
district located in the densely populated 
Boston suburb of Somerville and has come 

to be known as a leading example of Smart Growth 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Yet, prior to 
becoming a model for how to successfully integrate 
New Urbanist strategies such as pedestrian-friendly 
streets and human-scale development, the site first 
rose to prominence for its industrial use, owned and 
operated by the Ford Motor Company as an assembly 
plant between 1926 and 1958 (City of Somerville, 
2022). Several art installations located throughout the 
site—including shipping containers painted with 
murals and archways constructed out of iron beams—
pay homage to its industrial past (City of Somerville, 
2022). Following the closure of the plant in 1958 due 
to the decline of the Rust Belt and the subsequent 
impact on the country’s domestic manufacturing 
industry, the site became derelict (Alder et al., 2014; 
City of Somerville, 2022). It was not until 1979, that 
the city of Somerville formally recognized the site to 
be blighted and moved to adopt the Assembly Square 
Revitalization Plan (City of Somerville, 2022). 

The initial revitalization plan would prompt the 
development of a 360,000 ft2 enclosed shopping mall, 
consisting of numerous small retailers and two 
department store anchors: Kmart and Jordan Marsh 
(City of Somerville, 2022). Other big box stores—
such as Home Depot—soon after began to populate 
the site as well, seemingly cementing its future as an 
automobile-oriented shopping center, characterized 
by extensive parking lots, wide streets, single-use 
commercial buildings, and no visible sense of place 
(City of Somerville, 2022). Moreover, the site’s 
proximity to Interstate 93—which enhanced 
automobile access to a once thriving center for 
industrial jobs—further demonstrates the 

prioritization of cars in considering the mobility 
needs of the site during the early phases of 
development (City of Somerville, 2022). I-93, which 
forms the western boundary of Assembly Square, 
effectively isolated the site from the surrounding 
neighborhoods and posed a substantial barrier to 
access for alternative forms of mobility, such as 
walking and biking (City of Somerville, 2022). The 
lack of green spaces, human-scale buildings, and 
opportunities for public gathering prior to 
redevelopment resulted in a series of disconnected 
structures that were not easily navigable by 
pedestrians (see Figure III). The existing 
development pattern of commercial strips and 
enclosed shopping malls highlighted the 
underutilization of land on the site. Being a riverfront 
property situated in an immediate suburb of Boston, 
the potential to revitalize the site into an area for 
people to live, work, and play, presented an 
opportunity that many felt could not be foregone 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  
 

Figure III. Assembly Square prior to redevelopment: 
a vast paved lot containing strip malls and big box 
stores (Source: Harriman, n.d.). 

A



pg. 5 

REDEVELOPMENT 
The City of Somerville and its residents sought to 
reimagine the trajectory of the site’s built form. One 
of the most influential advocates for the site’s 
redevelopment was undoubtedly the Mystic View 
Task Force, a citizens group that lobbied for the 
creation of a dense, mixed-use, and walkable 
neighborhood (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
This came following the introduction of New 
Urbanist and Smart Growth ideologies to the 
community at the SomerVision event in the spring of 
1998, which brought the notion of pedestrian-
oriented and dense development to the public eye 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). By 2004, an 
Assembly Square Mixed-Use District had been 
established by ordinance of the City of Somerville to 
expand opportunities for housing, office spaces, and 
recreation and to replace vacant and underutilized 
land (City of Somerville, 2018). In order to ensure 
that the redevelopment project was both a feasible 
and targeted approach, the ordinance outlines 
development standards and design guidelines for 
future development (City of Somerville, 2018). These 
frameworks ensure that new development meets 
transportation demands, offers greater visual appeal, 
and enhances opportunities for open space (City of 
Somerville, 2018).  

As part of the goal of improving connectivity to 
alternative transportation networks, a new “T” station 
was constructed to encourage transit use and further 
remove the need for car-oriented development 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). The 
implementation of wide sidewalks, bike lanes, safe 
street crossings, on-street parking, and other buffers 
from car traffic have created inviting spaces for 
pedestrians to gather (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 
2021). At buildout, Assembly Square is expected to 
have more than 800,000 ft2 of retail space, 1.75 
million ft2 of office space, and more than 2,000 
apartments, with 12.5% of the units being designated 
affordable as per the City of Somerville’s 
inclusionary housing program (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021). In the interest of improving 
public health, a 300-foot buffer set from the nearby 
highway aims to protect people from the effects of 
car particulates, while improved capacity for multi-
modal infrastructure provides additional support for 

encouraging physical activity via walking and biking 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Figure IV 
shows the site following redevelopment and 
demonstrates how the project was able to enhance 
walkability and pedestrian access by narrowing the 
street and removing large parking lots in favor of 
attractive blocks and storefronts.  

Figure IV. Aerial view of Assembly Square 
following redevelopment, with walkable blocks, 
increased density, and thriving public spaces (Source: 
Boghosian, n.d.).  

By employing a mix of construction materials, 
varying building heights, and supporting vibrant 
public spaces, Assembly Square has undergone a 
substantial transition from a once placeless 
commercial zone to a thriving neighborhood, rich in 
character and opportunity. Figure V demonstrates 
how decentering cars can promote public gathering 
and mediate social exchange. The amphitheater at 
Assembly Square is an example of how retrofitting 
existing commercial strip development can not only 
facilitate increased density but can also expand 
opportunities for open space and re-greening that are 
otherwise lost.  

Figure V. Members of the public enjoy an event at 
the newly constructed amphitheater, one of several 
public spaces in the site (Source: Federal Realty, 
n.d.).



pg. 6 

LANCASTER BLVD 

Lancaster, California 

BACKGROUND 
ancaster, California is an important case 
study for understanding how to successfully 
retrofit a dying suburb of commercial strips 

and treacherous streets into a walkable and thriving 
downtown. The City of Lancaster, California is 
currently home to a population of over 100,000 
people and is a model for Smart Growth due to its 
immense reconfiguration of a nine-block portion of 
its downtown into a hub for pedestrian activity 
(CNU, 2019). Prior to redevelopment, Lancaster 
stood as a destitute reminder of the historic center 
that once was.  

The City of Lancaster first rose to prominence for its 
early agricultural pursuits following the introduction 
of a railroad through the town in the nineteenth 
century. From that point on, Lancaster became 
overrun by the continued development pressures of a 
sprawling Los Angeles metro (City of Lancaster, 
n.d.). This led to the emergence of a downtown 
characterized by wide streets subject to frequent 
speeding along with big box stores and commercial 
strips driving out local businesses (Holstein, 2016). 
Figure VI illustrates the resulting landscape of 
automobile-oriented development that ultimately 
emerged. Unemployment levels at the height of 
Lancaster’s economic depression sat at around 18%, 
posing significant barriers to growth for the 
community (Holstein, 2016). As a result, the city’s 
downtown suffered from rising vacancies and a lack 
of clientele to support businesses (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

While the City of Lancaster undoubtedly suffered as 
a result of its conventional suburban development 
patterns and unsustainable revitalization efforts, there 
was an important emphasis for future redevelopment 
to recognize the variety of opportunities that were 
already at the community’s disposal. Such 
opportunities included an effective grid pattern 
surrounding the downtown district which allowed the 

city to integrate multi-modal facilities into existing 
commercial corridors (Holstein, 2016). In doing so, 
the city sought to undertake a project that relied 
largely on enhancing current frameworks as opposed 
to a complete overhaul and redevelopment. The goal 
of this approach was to allow the City of Lancaster to 
grow in a way that was both organic and welcomed 
by the community, rather than attempting to restore it 
to its original glory. This kickstarted a revitalization 
effort that would reinvigorate the community and 

transform it into a vibrant and accessible space. 

REDEVELOPMENT 
Early efforts to expand the capacity for growth in 
Lancaster and renew interest in the city’s 
downtown—including implementing a light rail 
station, increasing affordable housing options, and 
building a performing arts center—alone were 
insufficient for the task at hand (Holstein, 2016). By 
2008, Lancaster had adopted a Downtown Specific 
Plan which leveraged urban design strategies such as 
form-based codes in order to encourage pedestrian 
activity and support a mix of land uses (Williamson 
& Dunham-Jones, 2021). Over the next decade, the 
site would come to be regarded as a highly successful 

L 

Figure VI. Downtown Lancaster prior to 
redevelopment, with wide streets and lacking 
pedestrian facilities (Source: Moule & Polyzoides, 
n.d.).



pg. 7 

revitalization project, responsible for drawing in large 
crowds, raising property values, increasing jobs, and 
encouraging multi-modality (Holstein, 2016). This 
was an achievement made possible by the decision to 
alter current zoning regulations and plan for the 
development of unique placetypes in favor of a single 
zoning district with allowable uses. By narrowing 
once busy streets with several lanes of traffic and 
effectively curtailing driving speeds, the safety of 
pedestrians and bicyclists became the top priority 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Figure VII 
highlights the street reconfigurations that the city of 
Lancaster adopted in order to promote safe 
opportunities for walkability and encourage greater 
economic activity in downtown.  

In an effort to preserve the integrity of the city’s 
character and establish a unique sense of place, 
developers sought to leverage the area’s culture by 
designing a central rambla, featuring a tree-lined 
promenade along rows of businesses (Holstein, 
2016). In ensuring adequate accessibility, the 
redevelopment considered the need for benches to 
allow opportunities for rest, shade trees to protect 
occupants from excessive heat exposure, and 
attractive art installations that provide aesthetic value 
(Benfield, n.d.). The site, now known as the BLVD, 
hosts a variety of events throughout the year and has 
facilitated the growth of 50 new businesses, seen 
dramatic reductions in rates of traffic-related injuries, 
and generated over $273 million in economic output 

(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). The scale of 
economic growth is particularly impressive, when 
considering the project input costs totaled only $41 
million (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

The redevelopment of Lancaster BLVD is certainly 
an insightful case study for understanding how 
financially feasible strategies of suburban renewal 
can tremendously impact fading suburbs without 
undertaking a complete redevelopment. For instance, 
the project was able to cut costs on its safe streets 
redesign by maintaining existing curb cuts and gutter 
systems and enhancing pedestrian-friendly facilities 
such as bike lanes and street crossings (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021). The central rambla, the 
primary utility of which is to accommodate parking, 
utilized permeable pavers to both improve 
permeability on the site and distinguish its function 
as a multi-use space during events and holiday 
festivals (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
Figure VIII illustrates the function of the rambla as 
central parking, while offering shade for pedestrians 

and safe crossing points. 

The removal of numerous traffic lights in favor of 
pedestrian-oriented street crossings has further 
promoted connectivity throughout the BLVD while 
reducing threats to pedestrian safety, such as having 
to cross several lanes of traffic. Additional 
investments of $30 million were also made within 
downtown Lancaster to expand housing opportunities 
and provide access to 800 units of affordable housing 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 

    

Figure VIII. Central rambla with parking and 
shade trees (Source: Moule & Polyzoides, n.d.). 

Figure VII. View of Lancaster BLVD showing the 
reconstruction of the site into a central greenway 
with pedestrian-oriented streets (Source: Tamara 
Leigh Photography, n.d.). 



pg. 8 

MIZNER PARK 

Boca Raton, Florida 

BACKGROUND
hile Mizner Park—located in Boca 
Raton, Florida—is known today for its 
promenade of high-end shops and 

restaurants, relaxing greenways, and enriching 
cultural centers, it once represented one of the 
country’s most common development types: the 
suburban mall (EPA, 2022). The site formerly housed 
a roughly 30-acre enclosed shopping mall with two 
department stores alongside a row of smaller retailers 
(Retrofitting Suburbia, 2021). As is often the case 
with suburban shopping malls, the original site was 
surrounded by impervious parking lots, with no 
sufficient infrastructure to support alternative 
methods of mobility (EPA, 2004). This presented a 
challenge of stormwater management, as there was a 
lack of vegetation and permeability to absorb and 
filter stormwater passing through the site, which 
carried pollutants from surrounding roadways (EPA, 
2004). The site, located just north of the city’s major 
downtown arterial—Palmetto Park Road—was easily 
accessible to the historic center of Boca and the 
primary hub of activity at the time of its development 
(Leming, 2016).  

The Boca Mall, as it was previously named, was 
located at the site from 1972 to 1990, before it was 
ultimately deemed to be a blighted property suffering 
from high vacancy rates, increased competition from 
nearby malls, and some of the lowest office rents in 
Palm Beach County (Carson, 2001; EPA, 2022). The 
opening of the much larger Town Center Mall in 
1980 just a few miles from the site seemingly 
accelerated the Boca Raton Mall’s demise, drawing 
in a greater clientele and offering a broader shopping 
experience (Carson, 2001). Figure IX demonstrates 
the type of commercial development that 
characterized the original site, most notably large car 
parking in the front of the store to enhance 
automobile access and a long corridor of single-story 
retail spaces. This built landscape often emerges from 
zoning restrictions that limit development to a single 

use and incentivize a dependency on personal 
automobiles to fulfill one’s transportation needs 
(Watsky, 2018). These pressures resulted in a site 
that lacked adequate walkability, viable green spaces, 
or a diverse mix of uses to generate activity. 

 
Figure IX. Image taken from the parking lot of the 
‘Boca Mall’ in the 1980s, depicting the mall and one 
of its department stores anchors (Source: Boca Raton 
Historical Society, n.d.). 

REDEVELOPMENT 
Today, downtown Boca’s upscale neighborhoods and 
high property values represent a stark contrast from 
its once bleak future as a dying shopping mall with 
rising vacancies. Not only did this suburban retrofit 
impact the immediate area of the site, but it has also 
had a resounding effect on the entirety of the city’s 
downtown, forming a stable tax base that has helped 
to bolster economic growth (Stone, 2022). The 
neighborhood surrounding Mizner Park reportedly 
experienced a 14-fold increase in property values in 
the decade that followed the site’s redevelopment 
into a mixed-use center lined with attractive 
storefronts, bustling restaurants, and a central park 
corridor (EPA, 2022). By 2002, the number of 
housing units downtown had increased by more than 
600, with hundreds more units underway (EPA, 
2022). Currently, the 29-acre site of Mizner Park 
provides access to more than 200 homes and 262,000 

W



pg. 9 

ft2 of office space, with nearly half of its land area 
dedicated as open green space (EPA, 2022). The 
large central park feature which lines the 
promenade—shown in Figure X—promotes 
pedestrian activity and encourages physical forms of 
mobility. This, in turn, improves occupant health, 
while offering a more visually appealing experience 
for patrons who come to dine and shop at its 
businesses. The reintroduction of native vegetation 
and permeability to the site has dramatically 
improved its impact on local water quality and helped 
to mitigate hazards such as flooding and stormwater 
runoff (Goldberg, n.d.).  

Figure X. View of Mizner Park’s central green 
space, flanked on either side by lines of multi-story 
buildings with numerous housing and office spaces 
located above shops and restaurants (Source: Royal 
Palm Properties, n.d.). 

Mizner Park has come to be known as a highly 
regarded redevelopment project, recognized by the 
EPA for its integration of Smart Growth principles to 
successfully revitalize a blighted shopping mall 
(EPA, 2022). Not only did this suburban retrofit 
prioritize elements of increasing density and 
maximizing underutilized land, but it also strongly 
considered the experience of occupants in its design 
and construction phases. With its vibrant public 
spaces and thriving establishments, Mizner Park was 
one of the earliest examples of retrofitting a placeless 

commercial development into an identifiable and 
pedestrian-oriented landmark (Carson, 2001).  

By narrowing the road, installing pavers in place of 
asphalt, utilizing on-street parking as a road buffer, 
and encouraging walkability, the site is able to 
effectively limit car traffic and mitigate hazards to 
pedestrian safety (Urban Land Institute, 2005). 
Additionally, by modeling the architecture of the site 
after the traditional Mediterranean Revival style that 
was popularized throughout South Florida’s beach-
towns, Mizner Park maintains a connection to the 
local sense of place (Urban Land Institute, 2005). 
The site was also recognized for its creative use of 
housing to hide on-site parking from the public view 
and more effectively integrate the site into the 
surrounding landscape. To disguise parking garages 
on the site and maximize opportunities for housing, 
developers chose to line the rear façades on the 
eastern half of the site with townhomes, as they 
fronted a nearby single-family neighborhood (EPA, 
2022). Figure XI highlights how Smart Growth 
strategies can encourage aspects of increased density 
and mixed-use while preserving the character of 
surrounding communities.  

 
Figure XI. Lines of townhomes that hide parking 
garages from the view of the surrounding 
neighborhood (Source: Gables Residential, n.d.). 

   



pg. 10 

PROMENADE OF WAYZATA 

Wayzata, Minnesota 

BACKGROUND 
ayzata, Minnesota is a city of just over 
4,000 people, located in a nearby suburb 
of Minneapolis (Data USA, n.d.). 

Founded in 1854, it is known for its small-town 
character and scenic lakefront views (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021). Situated at the terminus of a 
former passenger rail line along Lake Minnetonka, it 
was popularized as a seasonal resort and cottage 
community that offered a temporary respite from the 
city (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Yet, as 
the Minneapolis metro area continued to face 
pressures of sprawling development in the mid-
twentieth century, it eventually became a suburban 
community characterized by patterns of commercial 
strips, shopping malls, and a declining main street. 
As its commercial areas began to fade and the city 
explored unsuccessful attempts at replacing dying 
businesses with more retail space, Wayzata’s status 
as a once thriving community was increasingly 
threatened (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 

The site of a 14-acre commercial area known as the 
Wayzata Bay Shopping Center became an ideal 
location for redevelopment (Gilyard, 2011). The 
former shopping center, built in 1967, undoubtedly 
reflects the prioritization of automobiles as the 
driving force of development during this time period 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). The site was 
comprised of a single-story enclosed shopping mall, 
nearby strip malls, and several rows of impervious 
parking (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Figure 
XII illustrates the development that once existed at 
the site and showcases its emphasis on maintaining 
car-oriented infrastructure and conventional low-
density development practices. These features later 
proved to be a challenge for stormwater management, 
as the development not only limited access to 
permeability but was also sited on the location of 
preexisting wetlands. This disruption of the natural 
ecosystem services contributed to severe drainage 
issues and damaging floods (Williamson & Dunham-

Jones, 2021). In addition, commercial strip corridors 
formed as a result of building frontage along the 
city’s main street—Lake Street—to promote 
accessibility of cars to nearby shops and businesses 
in the heart of downtown (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones). This led to the emergence of large retail-
dominated strip malls, lined with parking lots that 
connected directly to Wayzata’s main street.  

REDEVELOPMENT 
By 2008, the City of Wayzata began to recognize the 
need for alternative methods of revitalization and 
opted to establish a downtown mixed-use district to 
allow some flexibility in building height and density 
requirements (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
This would set the stage for the city to begin re-
envisioning its downtown as a walkable and mixed-
use area for people to enjoy a variety of opportunities 
for shopping, dining, and recreation. With an 
emphasis on addressing concerns of automobile 
dependency and stormwater management, the 
redevelopment prioritized features such as open 
space, increased density, and adequate stormwater 
management facilities to limit flooding hazards and 
enhance accessibility for visitors (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

W 

Figure XII. View of the former Wayzata Bay 
Shopping Center (Source: Klotz, 2011). 



pg. 11 

Today, the site now known as the Promenade of 
Wayzata comprises several blocks of mixed-use 
buildings, with 255 senior housing units, 155 
condos/rentals, and a 92-room hotel, in addition to 
111,000 ft2 of retail space (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones, 2021; Doherty, n.d.). Figure XIII demonstrates 
how developers were able to reutilize land that was 
previously occupied by single-use and low-density 
commercial development and transform it into a 
denser and more functional site that still retained the 
character of the surrounding community. The 
additional housing has helped to meet the increased 
need for senior living opportunities, given the growth 
in the population of older adults retiring to Wayzata 
over the last several decades. For instance, between 
1990 and 2010, the percentage of individuals over the 
age of 65 increased from 16% to 22% (Williamson & 
Dunham-Jones, 2021). To maintain adequate housing 
stock to support this growing population, the 
community made the decision to restrict certain 
housing units in the Promenade to individuals who 
were 55 and older and even offer relevant services 
and amenities such as assisted living and medical 
services (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

 

 

Another key consideration of the site’s 
redevelopment was undoubtedly the preservation of 
open green space to help bolster community activity 
and improve ecological function. While the re-
greening initiative ultimately did not opt for wetland 
restoration, the integration of street trees, landscaped 
curbs, and open lawns introduced a renewed 

permeability to the site while enhancing the visual 
appeal of surrounding storefronts and housing 
developments (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
Challenges of poor soil quality and drainage were 
managed by a carefully engineered approach to 
capture stormwater through a complex filtration 
system. This intricate filtration process, which 
extended throughout the site, relied on green roofs, 
stormwater basins, and drainage ponds to replicate 
the function of the wetland system that the site 
replaced (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
Figure XIV highlights one of the green spaces that is 
a part of this stormwater management system and 
provides beautification for surrounding housing.  

In addition to managing stormwater on-site, the 
redevelopment also took into consideration the 
continued threat of pollution to nearby water bodies 
caused by excessive salting of roads and sidewalks 
during the winter months (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones, 2021). By installing heating technology 
beneath the streets and sidewalks to reduce the need 
for salting, the site has been able to curtail the over-
chlorination of surrounding freshwater resources 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Moreover, the 
implementation of dedicated bike lanes, a free trolley 
system, and underground parking has dramatically 
improved options for multi-mobility and established 
pedestrian linkages throughout the downtown area 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

 

   

Figure XIII. The Promenade of Wayzata following 
redevelopment, with mixed-use buildings and 
added green space (Source: MNLA, n.d.). 

Figure XIV. A green space on the site located near 
a senior housing complex (Source: Finance & 
Commerce, 2019).



pg. 12 

MERIDEN GREEN 

Meriden, Connecticut 

BACKGROUND 
eriden, Connecticut is a medium-sized 
city of roughly 60,000 people that became 
known for its prominent industrial core 

and manufacturing economy (Steuteville, 2022). 
Meriden earned the name ‘Silver City,’ once popular 
for its production of cutlery and other goods through 
the International Silver Company (City of Meriden, 
n.d.). Situated at the midpoint of two major urban 
centers in the state of Connecticut—Hartford and 
New Haven—Meriden faced rising suburban 
development pressures throughout its history 
(Steuteville, 2022). By the mid-twentieth century, the 
city had abandoned its industrial-era structures to 
accommodate a 250,000 square foot enclosed 
shopping mall at the heart of its downtown 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). At the time, 
this development project was touted as an “urban 
renewal” effort to revitalize an increasingly feeble 
economy. The construction of this project in the 
1960s led a roughly 14-acre area of land containing 
the Harbor Brook—a waterway which feeds into the 
Quinnipiac River and Long Island Sound—to be 
cleared and filled (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 
2021).  

The Meriden Hub mall opened in 1970 and quickly 
began to suffer the effects of its early 
mismanagement, facing competition from another 
nearby mall that was more easily accessible to the 
highway and suffering from rising vacancies, 
bankrupt department store anchors, and a declining 
industrial jobs market (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 
2021). While the site was later redeveloped as a strip 
mall in an attempt to extend its viability, it 
nevertheless failed to adequately address the 
environmental impacts of developing on the site of a 
former floodplain, leading the property to flood 
frequently and resulting in catastrophic damages 
totaling $30 million following flooding events that 
occurred in 1992 and 1996 (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones, 2021). The damages incurred from these 

floods, alongside other pressures that were driving 
people out of the downtown, eventually caused the 
last remaining major tenant, which operated offices 
in a large portion of the mall, to leave (Pelham, 
2007). By 2005, various stakeholder 
recommendations and EPA findings on underutilized 
sites led the city to seize the property through 
eminent domain and begin efforts for remediation 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). Figure XV 
shows the site before it was redeveloped, 
characterized by vast parking lots and single-story 
commercial spaces.   

REDEVELOPMENT 
An early emphasis of the redevelopment project was 
to establish a ‘town green,’ a common feature of 
many New England towns that the community of 
Meriden previously lacked (Steuteville, 2022). The 
remediation and subsequent new construction on the 
site were a nearly $17 million undertaking and took a 
decade to complete (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 
2021). Opening in 2016 as the Meriden Green, the 
project relied entirely on small business contracting, 
with a quarter of those contractors being women and 
minority owners. Today, Meriden Green serves as a 
community gathering and event space and contains 
over a mile of walking paths, pedestrian bridges, and 
even an amphitheater (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 
2021).  

M 

Figure XV. The site of the Meriden Hub mall, prior 
to demolition (Source: RJ Media Group, n.d.)



pg. 13 

By re-grading the landscape to promote flood control, 
the design of the site was able to remove over 200 
properties in the downtown area from the 100-year 
flood plain and dramatically improve the 
permeability of the site (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones, 2021). As a result, the design not only added 
beautification, but it also effectively enhanced the 
ecosystem services of the area by restoring its natural 
function as a floodplain. Figure XVI shows the 
daylighting of the Harbor Brook, an aesthetic focal 
point and stormwater basin. It is worth noting that 
there are plans for expanding the walking and biking 
facilities along the path of the Harbor Brook and 
uncovering additional portions of the waterway as 
well (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 

Another important priority of the redevelopment 
project was to expand mobility opportunities by 
improving access to transit, along with walking and 
biking facilities. This was encouraged through a 
rezoning of the area into the Transit-Oriented District 
(TOD) in order to revitalize an existing transit station 
that offers service to a commuter rail line between 
New Haven, Hartford, and Springfield (City of 
Meriden, 2020; Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). 
Moreover, the new Meriden Transit Station includes 
infrastructure and facilities to support buses and 
rideshare vehicles as well, with the goal of offering 
alternative transportation methods to cars and 
relieving traffic congestion along nearby highway 
corridors (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

With 11 acres of the site being allocated as open 
green space surrounding the Harbor Brook, this 
revitalization project demonstrates how Smart 

Growth strategies are not limited in scope to 
increasing density via the raze and replace of existing 
development. Rather, they may also be utilized to 
encourage low-impact development and preserve the 
natural landscape through maximizing open space 
(EPA, 2021). In conjunction with the main open 
space feature, the remaining 3 acres of the site were 
sited for mixed-use development, adding housing 
capacity for 170 apartments above ground-floor retail 
spaces (Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021). The 
Meriden Commons housing development was built to 
reduce local flooding hazards and serve a diverse 
range of occupants, allocating a set number of units 
to displaced residents from previous substandard 
housing (26 units), along with affordable housing (60 
units) and market rate households (15 units) 
(Williamson & Dunham-Jones, 2021).  

Regarding future expansion, the effort to improve 
housing facilities while retaining affordability has 
been managed via the Choice Neighborhoods 
Transformation program (Williamson & Dunham-
Jones, 2021). Through this effort, there are plans to 
demolish existing substandard public housing and 
substitute each unit by offering vouchers and 
replacement units to displaced residents. This would 
provide more viable affordable housing opportunities 
that are outside of existing floodplains, while 
improving connectivity to nearby green spaces for 
low-income individuals who often lack access to such 
amenities. Figure XVII highlights the widespread re-
greening of the site and shows plans for additional 
housing and mixed-use development along the 
periphery of Meriden Green. 

Figure XVI. The daylighted Harbor Brook, with a 
pedestrian bridge in the background (Source: 
Kasinskas, n.d.). 

Figure XVII. Comparison of the site prior to 
redevelopment and following the re-greening and 
construction of mixed-use housing/retail space 
(Source: Williamson & Dunham Jones, 2021).



pg. 14 

MASHPEE COMMONS 

Mashpee, Massachusetts 

BACKGROUND
ashpee is a small town in Massachusetts 
with a year-round population of just over 
15,000 people (U.S. Census Bureau, 

2021). Located in the popular summer tourist 
destination of Cape Cod, it is known for its scenic 
trails, rich cultural heritage, and renowned Mashpee 
Commons. Once a strip mall surrounded by a vast 
parking lot, today the Commons has become one of 
the strongest examples of successful mixed-use 
redevelopment in the country to date (Kuschel, 
2018). The site was originally constructed in the 
1960s, as the New Seabury Shopping Center and 
housed only a handful of businesses, including a 
hardware store, a bank, a small theater, and a 
restaurant (World Green Building Council, n.d.). It 
was not until the 1980s that the name of the site was 
changed to Mashpee Commons, and the developers 
began to construct additional buildings and streets 
within the property.  

The former New Seabury Shopping Center is 
emblematic of the sprawling, auto-centric 
development patterns that characterized much of 
New England and the Cape in the mid-twentieth 
century and which continues to shape many existing 
developments today (World Green Building Council, 
n.d.). As demonstrated by Figure XVIII, the presence 
of wide parking lots directly connecting to the 
Town’s major arterials and corridors of commercial 
spaces promote ease of access for individuals 
travelling by car. Additionally, the absence of 
sidewalks, shade trees, or walkable blocks effectively 
prohibits pedestrian activity and resulted in a 
commercial strip with no true sense of place or 
opportunities for community gathering and exchange. 
Moreover such patterns of impervious development  
have continued to be a common trend amongst 
existing commercial areas, often exacerbating issues 
such as flooding and pollutant runoff from vehicles 
(EPA, 2022).  

Despite the seemingly decided fate of the site and the 
surrounding community as a sprawling network of 
suburban neighborhoods and commercial strips, 
developers sought a bold opportunity to re-introduce 
the historic character and walkability of the 
traditional New England village to Mashpee (World 
Green Building Council, n.d.).  

REDEVELOPMENT 
While in the mid 1980’s the site housed about 10 
businesses, today Mashpee Commons boasts over 
100 shops, restaurants, movie theaters, and even a 
grocery store (World Green Building Council, n.d.). 
Of these businesses, roughly 70% are locally-owned, 
relying on a few chain stores to serve as the site’s 
economic anchors and attract a wider clientele base 
to the Commons. By minimizing the heavy 
commercialization of the site, Mashpee is able to 
retain its economic growth within the Town 
(Kuschel, 2018). Developers have also leveraged 
design strategies to encourage walkable blocks lined 
with shade trees and attractive storefronts that are 
easily navigable by pedestrians and result in strong 
activity centers (CNU, 2017). By increasing density 
and providing housing units above retail and other 
commercial spaces, the site was able to maximize its 
available land area to offer a wide range of uses 

M

Figure XVIII. The site of the former New Seabury 
Shopping Center (Source: Mashpee Commons, n.d.).



pg. 15 

while expanding opportunities for workforce housing 
and multi-modality (Mashpee Commons, 2021). 
Figure XIX highlights how the implementation of 
wide sidewalks, crosswalks, on-street parking 
buffers, and an internal low-speed street network not 
only improved pedestrian safety, but also limited the 
need for cars to navigate the site. Moreover, 
numerous ‘liner buildings’ disguise parking lots from 
the public way and help to facilitate a pedestrian-
oriented experience for visitors (CNU, 2017).  

As such, Mashpee Commons is a unique case study 
in that it offers a long-range of study to evaluate the 
impacts of prioritizing mixed-use and dense 
development in favor of single-use commercial areas 
(Kuschel, 2018). It is also worth noting that the 
Commons has become the commercial activity center 
of the Town in the years following its redevelopment, 
with numerous municipal buildings and public 
spaces—such as the public library, places of worship, 
a post office, and open green spaces—being located 
in close proximity to the site (CNU, 2017). Figure 
XX demonstrates how the site’s focus on 
encouraging pedestrian activity has contributed to its 
immense success and popularity, with regular events 
and performances maintaining year-round business 
(World Green Building Council, n.d.). Future plans 
for expanding the Commons include developing 
additional housing units, to accommodate the 
overwhelming need for affordable and rental housing 
(Mashpee Commons, 2021). Yet, while Mashpee 
Commons undoubtedly represents one of the largest 

development influences in the Town, it is also one of 
the most ambitious proponents of sustainability, with 
plans for expanding biking and pedestrian facilities, 
improving transit access, and maintaining its 
emphasis on renewable energy (Mashpee Commons, 
2021). By encouraging walkability and increased 
density, developers sought to limit the reliance on 
automobiles and consequently reduce the amount of 
pollution associated with car-related traffic. 
Additionally, concentrating development in dense 
commercial clusters allows the Town to limit 
sprawling patterns of growth that require substantial 
land area to accommodate. The re-greening of the site 
via street trees and public green spaces has also 
sufficiently improved stormwater management by 
establishing permeable surfaces to handle runoff 
(Mashpee Commons, 2021).  

The foresight of developers to build a scalable water 
treatment facility that services numerous Town 
facilities such as the Senior Center, Police & Fire 
stations, and the Public Library, has further 
demonstrated its commitment to preserving the 
quality of the Town’s water resources (Mashpee 
Commons, 2021). As the Town of Mashpee faces its 
own development challenges surrounding the need to 
accommodate growing demands for housing, 
infrastructure, and services—whilst preserving the 
integrity of its small-town character—there is much 
to be learned from Mashpee Commons and its 
lessons of sustainable development.

Figure XX. A family enjoys live music at the 
bandstand at Mashpee Commons, which hosts 
regular events and performances (Source: Kazarian, 
n.d.). 

Figure XIX. View of Mashpee Commons, one of 
the most prominent case studies in the U.S. of a 
commercial strip retrofit into a mixed-use and 
walkable ‘Village Center’ (Source: Tagney, 2020). 



pg. 16 

REFERENCES 
Alder, S., Lagakos, D., & Ohanian, L. (2014) The 

Decline of the U.S. Rust Belt: A 
Macroeconomic Analysis. Center for 
Quantitative Economic Research. 
https://www.atlantafed.org/-
/media/documents/cqer/publications/workin
gpapers/cqer_wp1405.pdf 

Benfield, K. (n.d.). How retrofitting a California 
suburb for walkability is spurring economic 
development. Smart Cities Dive. Retrieved 
July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/ex/sustaina
blecitiescollective/how-retrofitting-
california-suburb-walkability-spurring-
economic-development/108556/ 

Boca Raton Historical Society. (n.d.). The Boca 
Raton Mall in the ‘80s [Online image]. The 
Coastal Star. 
https://thecoastalstar.com/profiles/blogs/miz
ner-park-turns-25  

Boghosian, A. (n.d.). [Online Image]. Boston 
Magazine. 
https://www.bostonmagazine.com/property/
assembly-square-neighborhood-guide/  

Carson, P. (2001, December 3). Mizner Park: an 
original mixed-use development. 
Bizjournals.com. Retrieved July 26, 2022, 
from 
https://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/st
ories/2001/12/03/focus2.html   

City of Lancaster. (n.d.). 1876-1910: The Beginning. 
Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.cityoflancasterca.org/our-
city/about-us/history-demographics/history-
of-lancaster/1876-1910-the-beginning   

City of Meriden. (2020). Plan of Conservation and 
Development. 
https://www.meridenct.gov/Customer-
Content/www/CMS/files/Planning_Zoning/
POCD2019/Meriden_POCD_Adopted_2-
12-20-sm.pdf  

City of Meriden. (n.d.). History of Meriden. 
Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.meridenct.gov/about/history-of-
meriden/  

City of Somerville. (2018, April 30). Assembly 
Square Mixed-Use District (ASMD). 
Retrieved August 30, 2022, from 
https://2xbcbm3dmbsg12akbzq9ef2k-
wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/Assembly-Square-
Mixed-Use-District-TDM-Plan.pdf   

City of Somerville. (2022). Assembly Square 
Neighborhood Plan Update. 
somervillema.gov. 
https://voice.somervillema.gov/assemblynp  

Cliggott, E. (2022, July 1). Summer on Cape Cod: 
Arts, events, and activities! 
ArtsCapeCod.org. Retrieved July 29, 2022, 
from 
https://www.artscapecod.org/blog/itineraries
/summer-on-cape-cod-arts-events-and-
activities/   

Congress for the New Urbanism. (2000, January 1). 
Smart growth and new urbanism: What's the 
difference? CNU.org. Retrieved July 29, 
2022, from 
https://www.cnu.org/publicsquare/2000/01/0
1/smart-growth-and-new-urbanism-
what%E2%80%99s-
difference#:~:text=Smart%20growth%20is
%20the%20policy,concert%20toward%20th
eir%20shared%20goals.   

Congress for the New Urbanism. (2017, July 22). 
Mashpee Commons. CNU.org. Retrieved 
July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.cnu.org/what-we-do/build-
great-places/mashpee-commons   

Congress for the New Urbanism. (2019, May 7). 
Lancaster Boulevard. CNU.org. Retrieved 
July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.cnu.org/what-we-do/build-
great-places/lancaster-boulevard   

Doherty, J. (n.d.). The Promenade of Wayzata. 
Property Listings. Retrieved July 29, 2022, 
from 
http://properties.midamericagrp.com/The-
Promenade-Of-Wayzata   



pg. 17 

Doyle, E. (2021, May 7). Mashpee Commons takes 
right approach to create housing. Cape Cod 
Times. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.capecodtimes.com/story/opinio
n/2021/05/07/cape-cod-mashpee-commons-
takes-right-approach-ease-housing-
shortage/4957165001/   

Environmental Protection Agency. (2004). Protecting 
Water Resources with Smart Growth.  

Environmental Protection Agency. (2021, December 
22). Smart Growth and Open Space 
Conservation. EPA.gov. Retrieved July 26, 
2022, from 
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/smart-
growth-and-open-space-
conservation#:~:text=Locally%20based%2C
%20long%2Dterm%20open,be%20either%2
0planned%20or%20haphazard.   

Environmental Protection Agency. (2022, April 22). 
Smart Growth- Impervious Surface Growth 
Model. EPA.gov. Retrieved September 23, 
2022, from 
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/impervio
us-surface-growth-model  

Environmental Protection Agency. (2022, May 2). 
Direct Development Towards Existing 
Communities: Mizner Park, Boca Raton, 
Florida. EPA. Retrieved July 26, 2022, from 
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/direct-
development-towards-existing-communities-
mizner-park-boca-raton-florida   

Federal Realty. (n.d.). [Online image]. Federal 
Realty. 
https://properties.federalrealty.com/property/
assembly-row/3313943  

Finance & Commerce. (2019). [Online image]. 
Finance & Commerce. https://finance-
commerce.com/2019/07/top-projects-of-
2018-the-promenade-of-wayzata/  

Gables Residential. (n.d.). [Online image]. Gables 
Residential. 
https://www.gables.com/communities/florid
a/boca-raton/mizner-park-apartments/  

Gilyard, B. (2011, April 20). Will Wayzata 
redevelopment finally get started? Finance 
& Commerce. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://finance-commerce.com/2011/04/will-
wayzata-redevelopment-finally-get-started/   

Goldberg, D. (n.d.). Choosing Our Community's 
Future. Smart Growth America. Retrieved 
July 26, 2022, from 
https://smartgrowthamerica.org/wp-
content/uploads/2016/08/choosing-our-
communitys-future.pdf   

Google. (2021). [Google Maps street-view along 
Route 151 in Mashpee, MA]. Retrieved July 
18, 2022, from 
https://www.google.com/maps/@41.615746
9,-
70.5206288,3a,75y,7.25h,84.65t/data=!3m6!
1e1!3m4!1svB5WXykUTRTPjpVyPSRz5A
!2e0!7i16384!8i8192  

Habibi, S., & Asadi, N. (2011). Causes, results and 
methods of controlling urban sprawl. 
Procedia Engineering, 21, 133–141. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2011.11.199
6  

Harriman (n.d.). [Online image]. Harriman.com 
https://harriman.com/assembly-square-
planning-services  

Holstein, A. (2016, September 23). The BLVD 
Transformation. Build a Better Burb. 
Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
http://buildabetterburb.org/the-blvd-
transformation/   

Jupiterimages. (n.d.). Suburban Neighbourhood. 
Photograph.  

Kasinskas, C. (n.d.). One Connecticut town swaps a 
derelict mall for a 14.4 acre community-
centered green space [Online image]. Arch 
Daily. 
https://www.archdaily.com/868046/why-
the-suburbs-will-be-americas-next-great-
architectural-testing-ground  

Kazarian, C. (n.d.). The popular band Entrain 
performs live at The Bandstand at Mashpee 
Commons, one of many great places to catch 
live music this summer [Online image]. Arts 
Cape Cod. 
https://www.artscapecod.org/blog/itineraries
/summer-on-cape-cod-arts-events-and-
activities/  

Klotz, B. (2011). The Wayzata Bay Shopping Center 
is in its final months of operation before 
redevelopment of the site begins [Online 



pg. 18 

image]. Finance & Commerce. 
https://finance-commerce.com/2011/04/will-
wayzata-redevelopment-finally-get-started/  

Kuschel, C. (2018, November 13). Mashpee 
Commons, one of the nation's first suburban 
retrofits. Build a Better Burb. Retrieved July 
29, 2022, from 
http://buildabetterburb.org/aging-well-
masphee-commons-one-of-the-nations-first-
suburban-retrofits/   

Leming, M. (2016, March 2). Mizner Park turns 25. 
The Coastal Star. Retrieved July 26, 2022, 
from 
https://thecoastalstar.com/profiles/blogs/miz
ner-park-turns-25  

Mashpee Commons. (2021, April 21). Future 
Projects. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://mashpeecommons.com/futureprojects
2/   

Mashpee Commons. (n.d.). The New Seabury 
Shopping Center [Online Image]. Congress 
for the New Urbanism. 
https://www.cnu.org/what-we-do/build-
great-places/mashpee-commons  

Mass.gov. (2022). State Office of Rural Health Rural 
Definition. Mass.gov. 
https://www.mass.gov/service-details/state-
office-of-rural-health-rural-definition 

Minnesota Nursery and Landscape Association. (n.d.) 
[Online image]. 
https://www.mnla.biz/m/event_details.asp?i
d=1231685  

Mockabee, T. (2022, May 15). Cape Cod Retirement 
Guide: Best Cape Cod Retirement 
Communities & Towns for Retirees. 
Vanguard Moving Services. Retrieved July 
29, 2022, from 
https://vanguardmovingservices.com/blog/ca
pe-cod-retirement/   

Moule & Polyzoides. (n.d.) Lancaster Boulevard 
before redesign [Online image]. Build a 
Better Burb. http://buildabetterburb.org/the-
blvd-transformation/  

Moule & Polyzoides. (n.d.) The redesigned roadway 
includes a ramblas—a new pedestrian strip 
down the middle. [Online image]. Build a 

Better Burb. http://buildabetterburb.org/the-
blvd-transformation/ 

OECD (2018). Rethinking Urban Sprawl: Moving 
Towards Sustainable Cities. OECD 
Publishing. 
https://www.oecd.org/environment/tools-
evaluation/Policy-Highlights-Rethinking-
Urban-Sprawl.pdf  

Pelham, T. (2007, May 22). A fresh future for the 
hub. Hartford Courant. Retrieved July 29, 
2022, from 
https://www.courant.com/news/connecticut/
hc-xpm-2007-05-22-0705220441-story.html   

Retrofitting Suburbia. (2021). Retrofitting suburbia. 
Retrieved July 26, 2022, from 
https://retrofittingsuburbia.com/   

RJ Media Group. (n.d.). Meriden downtown area 
looking north in this aerial view [Online 
image]. My Record Journal. 
https://www.myrecordjournal.com/Multime
dia/Photo-Galleries/PHOTOS-When-the-
Meriden-HUB-became-Meriden-
Green.html#gallery-8  

Royal Palm Properties. (n.d.). [Online image]. Royal 
Palm Properties. https://royalpalm.com/6-
cant-miss-events-at-mizner-park-
amphitheater/  

Special Provisions, Article IX Mashpee Zoning 
Bylaws. §174-48 et seq. (2020). 
https://www.mashpeema.gov/zoning-board-
appeals/pages/zoning-laws  

Spillane, G. (2017, November 12). Report details 
impact of Cape's 2nd homes. Cape Cod 
Times. Retrieved July 26, 2022, from 
https://www.capecodtimes.com/story/news/l
ocal/2017/11/11/report-details-impact-cape-
s/16948924007/   

Starritt, A. (2018, July 9). Combining density with 
open green spaces is the key to the urban 
future. Fast Company. Retrieved July 26, 
2022, from 
https://www.fastcompany.com/3062924/co
mbining-density-with-open-green-spaces-is-
the-key-to-the-urb   

Steuteville, R. (2022, June 14). Green, redevelopment 
fills hole created by 'urban renewal'. 



pg. 19 

CNU.org. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://www.cnu.org/publicsquare/2022/06/1
4/green-and-redevelopment-fills-hole-
created-urban-renewal   

Stone, K. (2022, January 16). Mizner Park. Cooper 
Carry. Retrieved July 26, 2022, from 
https://www.coopercarry.com/projects/mizn
er-park/   

Tamara Leigh Photography. (n.d.). An aerial of the 
new Lancaster Boulevard [Online image]. 
Congress for the New Urbanism. 
https://www.cnu.org/what-we-do/build-
great-places/lancaster-boulevard  

Tangney, D. (2020). Mashpee Commons on Cape 
Cod. Photograph, Mashpee, MA. 

Town of Mashpee (2015). Affordable Housing & 
Planned Production Plan. 
https://www.mashpeema.gov/sites/g/files/vy
hlif3426/f/uploads/mashpee_ahpp_plan_201
5_update_final_approved_11-16-
15.pdf#:~:text=Source%3A%20U.S.%20Ce
nsus-
,Housing%20Type%20and%20Age,Census
%2C%20the%20percentage%20declined%2
0slightly.  

United States Census Bureau. (2021, July). Mashpee 
town, Barnstable County, Massachusetts. 
Census.gov. Retrieved September 23, 2022, 
from 
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table
/US/PST120221    

Urban Land Institute. (2005). Mizner Park. Retrieved 
July 26, 2022, from 
https://www.volusia.org/core/fileparse.php/4
554/urlt/48-Mizner-Park.pdf   

Vermont Natural Resources Council. (2022). Strip 
Development. VNRC.og. 
https://vnrc.org/community-planning-
toolbox/issues/strip-development/  

Watsky, R. (2018). The problems with euclidean 
zoning. Dome RSS. 
https://sites.bu.edu/dome/2018/07/19/the-
problems-with-euclidean-
zoning/#:~:text=In%20Massachusetts%2C%
20Euclidean%20zoning%20is,institute%20z
oning%20within%20their%20borders.   

Wayzata, MN. Data USA. (n.d.). Retrieved 
September 21, 2022, from 
https://datausa.io/profile/geo/wayzata-mn   

Weston & Sampson (2022). Zoning Map [Online 
image]. Mashpee Local Comprehensive 
Plan. https://www.planmashpee.com/maps  

Williamson, J., & Dunham-Jones, E. (2021). Case 
studies in retrofitting suburbia: Urban design 
strategies for urgent challenges. Wiley.  

World Green Building Council. (n.d.). Case Study: 
Mashpee Commons. Worldgbc.org. 
Retrieved July 29, 2022, from 
https://worldgbc.org/sites/default/files/bp-
resource/Mashpee.pdf   

 























Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs

Charles D. Baker

Governor

Karyn E. Polito

Lieutenant Governor

Bethany A. Card

Secretary

Martin Suuberg

Commissioner

Department of Environmental Protection
One Winter Street Boston, MA 02108 Ÿ 617-292-5500

WW01 - Water-Dependent License/Permit 

Application

Permittee Information

Name: Joshua M Fox

Phone: (617) 969-7555

Address: 80 BRIMSTON LANE

SUDBURY, MA 01776

Application Submitter Information

Name: ERICA  BORSELLI

Phone: (508) 495-1225, (508) 423-6403

Address: 17 ACADEMY LANE, STE. 200

FALMOUTH, MA 02540

Location Information

Shoestring Bay

81 LIGHTHOUSE LANE MASHPEE, MA 02649
Latitude: 413620

Longitude: 702749

List of Abutters

Full Legal Name

 

Abutting Property Address

 

Mark C. & Kim M. Bush 87 Lighthouse Lane

Mashpee, MA 02649

Teddi C. Marsh & George J. Silva 77 Lighthouse Lane

Mashpee, MA 02649

Additional Contacts Info

Page 1 of 422-WW01-0149-APP9/14/2022



Please provide the Name of the 

Permittee(s) exactly as it should be listed 

in the license/permit that will be recorded 

at the Registry of Deeds (the name(s) 

listed here need to match the name(s) 

listed on the plans or the license may be 

rejected by the Registry of Deeds)

Joshua M. & Tamara M. Fox

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Permittees in the Application Contacts 

section (each Permittee entered as a 

separate contact - do not list 2 names in 1 

field)

Yes

Is the project site within a right of way? No

Are you submitting evidence of legal 

authority to  apply in lieu of the Property 

Owner's Signature? If yes, please attach a 

document 'Evidence of Legal Authority' in 

the document section

No

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Property Owners in the Application 

Contacts section

Yes

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Abutters in the above Contact table 

section

Yes

Application Type

Please select the application type you are 

applying for

Residential with less than or equal to 4 units

Project Information

Brief Description of Project (e.g., dock, 

seawall, boat ramp, Harborwalk – if a 

longer narrative is to be provided, please 

upload a separate document)

Construct timber pier extension, ramp, and float.

Brief Description of Project Location - 

Non-Traditional Address (e.g., 'west end 

Toronto Avenue right-of-way at Gloucester 

Harbor' DO NOT complete this field if your 

project has a traditional address - enter 

N/A)

N/A

Proposed Use/Activity description Non-commercial docking & boating access to navigable waters.

Is this site subject to 21E? No

Does the project exceed the MEPA review 

thresholds for Waterways standards?

No

Is the Project site in an Environmental 

Justice Community?

No

Which Wetlands Protection Act process 

document are you attaching?

WPA Order of Conditions

Page 2 of 422-WW01-0149-APP9/14/2022



Has there ever been a waterways 

jurisdictional determination issued for this 

project site?

No

Does your project require a 401 water 

quality certificate? If yes, please attach if 

currently available, a copy of '401 Water 

Quality Certificate' in the document 

section.

No

Are you seeking a Variance? If yes, please 

attach a supporting evidence of 

compliance with 310 CMR 9.21, 'Variance 

Supplement' in the document section.

No

Is the project located within the 

Designated Port Area? If yes, please 

review the standards at 310 CMR 9.12 and 

9.32.

No

Is the project located within an area 

subject to State Approved Municipal 

Harbor Plan? If yes, please attach 

supporting evidence of compliance with 

applicable MHP, 'MHP Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Are you seeking a CWD (consolidated 

written determination) in accordance with 

310 CMR 9.14(4)? If yes, please attach a 

document 'CWD Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Does your project involve dredging? No

Documents

Documents Required Documents:

1. Chapter 91 Plans

2. List of Environmental Regulatory Programs

3. WPA Order of Conditions

Special Fee Provision

Exemption

Exclusion (special agreement or policy)

Substitution (ASP/IRP)

Double Fee for Enforcement

Hardship payment extension request

Page 3 of 422-WW01-0149-APP9/14/2022



Attachments

Latest UpdatedName TypeDescription

Chapter 91 Plans 09/14/2022Ch 91 Plan Stamped.pdf Chapter 91 License Plans

WPA Order of Conditions 09/14/2022OOC 43-3176.pdf WPA Order of Conditions 43-3176  

List of Environmental Regulatory 

Programs

 

09/14/2022List of Environmental 

Regulatory Programs.docx

List of Environmental Regulatory Programs  

Application Contacts

EmailContact TypeTelephone #Contact PersonOrganization NameName

erica@falmouthengineeri

ng.com

(508) 495-1225n/an/aERICA, 

BORSELLI

Application 

Prepared By

jfox@rrf-law.com(617) 969-7555n/an/aTamara, Fox Additional 

Property Owner

Fee Info

Amount: 

Description: 

Status: 

Payment Date: 

$ 215.00 

WW01 Application Fees

Paid

14-Sep-2022

Certification Information

Individual

ERICA BORSELLI

17 ACADEMY LANE, STE. 200

FALMOUTH, MA 02540

United States

Telephone #: (508) 495-1225, (508) 423-6403

E-mail: erica@falmouthengineering.com

I hereby certify that the information submitted in this application is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. All 

applicants and property owners must sign the “Proof of Signature” which will be provided after initial review by the Department. 

All future application correspondence may be signed by the Application Submitter.

Page 4 of 422-WW01-0149-APP9/14/2022











Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 

Chapter 91 Waterways Water-Dependent, Nonwater Dependent, Amendment Application 
 

Municipal Planning Board Notification 
 
 
 

Planning.doc Rev_1021 Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

Note to Permittee: This form should be submitted, with the top portion completed, to the municipal Planning Board 
along with the complete application and project plans. 

 

Joshua M. & Tamara M. Fox                                                                                                                                                                    
Name of Permittee 

 

81 Lighthouse Lane                                                            Shoestring Bay                                               Mashpee                                            
Project Address                                                              Name of Waterway                                        City/Town 
 
 
Description of project and use or change in use (this field is not limited to the one line shown). 

Construct timber pier extension, ramp, and float.                                                                                                                             

 

 

To be completed by the municipal Planning Board representative. 

“I hereby certify that the project described above and more fully detailed in the Permittee’s Waterways License 
application and plans have been submitted by the Permittee to the municipal Planning Board.” 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
Print Name of Municipal Planning Board Representative                                                                           Date 
 

                                                                                                                                                                    
Signature of Municipal Planning Board Representative    Title                                                                                City/Town 
 
 
Note: Any Planning Board recommendation shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(5). Comments 
pertaining to this Application shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(4); any comments submitted 
after the close of the public comment period shall not constitute a basis for standing in any appeal pursuant to 310 
CMR 9.13(4) and/or 310 CMR 9.17.  



Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs

Charles D. Baker

Governor

Karyn E. Polito

Lieutenant Governor

Bethany A. Card

Secretary

Martin Suuberg

Commissioner

Department of Environmental Protection
One Winter Street Boston, MA 02108 Ÿ 617-292-5500

WW01 - Water-Dependent License/Permit 

Application

Permittee Information

Name: Mark C Bush

Phone: (617) 828-1752

Address: 87 LIGHTHOUSE LANE

MASHPEE, MA 02649

Application Submitter Information

Name: ERICA  BORSELLI

Phone: (508) 495-1225, (508) 423-6403

Address: 17 ACADEMY LANE, STE. 200

FALMOUTH, MA 02540

Location Information

Shoestring Bay

87 LIGHTHOUSE LANE MASHPEE, MA 02649
Latitude: 413620

Longitude: 702750

List of Abutters

Full Legal Name

 

Abutting Property Address

 

Joshua M & Tamara M Fox 80 Brimstone Lane

Sudbury, MA 01776

John Steven & Helen Stamidis Pentikis 58 Quaker Run Road

Mashpee, MA 02649

Additional Contacts Info

Page 1 of 422-WW01-0150-APP9/15/2022



Please provide the Name of the 

Permittee(s) exactly as it should be listed 

in the license/permit that will be recorded 

at the Registry of Deeds (the name(s) 

listed here need to match the name(s) 

listed on the plans or the license may be 

rejected by the Registry of Deeds)

Mark C & Kim M Bush

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Permittees in the Application Contacts 

section (each Permittee entered as a 

separate contact - do not list 2 names in 1 

field)

Yes

Is the project site within a right of way? No

Are you submitting evidence of legal 

authority to  apply in lieu of the Property 

Owner's Signature? If yes, please attach a 

document 'Evidence of Legal Authority' in 

the document section

No

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Property Owners in the Application 

Contacts section

Yes

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Abutters in the above Contact table 

section

Yes

Application Type

Please select the application type you are 

applying for

Residential with less than or equal to 4 units

Project Information

Brief Description of Project (e.g., dock, 

seawall, boat ramp, Harborwalk – if a 

longer narrative is to be provided, please 

upload a separate document)

Construct timber pier, ramp, and float.

Brief Description of Project Location - 

Non-Traditional Address (e.g., 'west end 

Toronto Avenue right-of-way at Gloucester 

Harbor' DO NOT complete this field if your 

project has a traditional address - enter 

N/A)

N/A

Proposed Use/Activity description Non commercial boating and dicking access to navigable water.

Is this site subject to 21E? No

Does the project exceed the MEPA review 

thresholds for Waterways standards?

No

Is the Project site in an Environmental 

Justice Community?

No

Which Wetlands Protection Act process 

document are you attaching?

WPA Order of Conditions

Page 2 of 422-WW01-0150-APP9/15/2022



Has there ever been a waterways 

jurisdictional determination issued for this 

project site?

No

Does your project require a 401 water 

quality certificate? If yes, please attach if 

currently available, a copy of '401 Water 

Quality Certificate' in the document 

section.

No

Are you seeking a Variance? If yes, please 

attach a supporting evidence of 

compliance with 310 CMR 9.21, 'Variance 

Supplement' in the document section.

No

Is the project located within the 

Designated Port Area? If yes, please 

review the standards at 310 CMR 9.12 and 

9.32.

No

Is the project located within an area 

subject to State Approved Municipal 

Harbor Plan? If yes, please attach 

supporting evidence of compliance with 

applicable MHP, 'MHP Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Are you seeking a CWD (consolidated 

written determination) in accordance with 

310 CMR 9.14(4)? If yes, please attach a 

document 'CWD Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Does your project involve dredging? No

Documents

Documents Required Documents:

1. Chapter 91 Plans

2. List of Environmental Regulatory Programs

3. WPA Order of Conditions

Special Fee Provision

Exemption

Exclusion (special agreement or policy)

Substitution (ASP/IRP)

Double Fee for Enforcement

Hardship payment extension request

Page 3 of 422-WW01-0150-APP9/15/2022



Attachments

Latest UpdatedName TypeDescription

Chapter 91 Plans 09/15/2022Ch 91 Plan Stamped.pdf Chapter 91 Plans

WPA Order of Conditions 09/15/2022OOC 43-3175.pdf WPA Order of Conditions

List of Environmental Regulatory 

Programs

 

09/15/2022List of Environmental 

Regulatory Programs.docx

List of environmental regulatory programs  

Application Contacts

EmailContact TypeTelephone #Contact PersonOrganization NameName

mcbush1970@gmail.co

m

(617) 828-1752n/an/aKim, Bush Additional 

Property Owner

Fee Info

Amount: 

Description: 

Status: 

Payment Date: 

$ 215.00 

WW01 Application Fees

Paid

15-Sep-2022

Certification Information

Individual

ERICA BORSELLI

17 ACADEMY LANE, STE. 200

FALMOUTH, MA 02540

United States

Telephone #: (508) 495-1225, (508) 423-6403

E-mail: erica@falmouthengineering.com

I hereby certify that the information submitted in this application is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. All 

applicants and property owners must sign the “Proof of Signature” which will be provided after initial review by the Department. 

All future application correspondence may be signed by the Application Submitter.

Page 4 of 422-WW01-0150-APP9/15/2022











Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 

Chapter 91 Waterways Water-Dependent, Nonwater Dependent, Amendment Application 
 

Municipal Planning Board Notification 
 
 
 

Planning.doc Rev_1021 Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

Note to Permittee: This form should be submitted, with the top portion completed, to the municipal Planning Board 
along with the complete application and project plans. 

 

Mark C. & Kim M. Bush                                                                                                                                                                    
Name of Permittee 

 

87 Lighthouse Lane                                                            Shoestring Bay                                               Mashpee                                            
Project Address                                                              Name of Waterway                                        City/Town 
 
 
Description of project and use or change in use (this field is not limited to the one line shown). 

Construct timber pier, ramp, and float                                                                                                                                                    

 

 

To be completed by the municipal Planning Board representative. 

“I hereby certify that the project described above and more fully detailed in the Permittee’s Waterways License 
application and plans have been submitted by the Permittee to the municipal Planning Board.” 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
Print Name of Municipal Planning Board Representative                                                                           Date 
 

                                                                                                                                                                    
Signature of Municipal Planning Board Representative    Title                                                                                City/Town 
 
 
Note: Any Planning Board recommendation shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(5). Comments 
pertaining to this Application shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(4); any comments submitted 
after the close of the public comment period shall not constitute a basis for standing in any appeal pursuant to 310 
CMR 9.13(4) and/or 310 CMR 9.17.  


















	81 Light House Ch 91 Application
	81 Light House Ch 91 Plan Stamped
	81 Light House Ch 91 Planning Board Form
	87 Light House Ch 91 Application
	87 Light House Ch 91 Plan Stamped
	87 Light House Ch 91 Planning Board Form



